| Patient Care Services Procedure-Manual

Universal Protocol

Page 5 of 6

e. Any discrepancies identified during the pre-procedure verification process, shall require
a “hard stop” and a “huddle” to be called at the patient’s bedside to resolve the
discrepancy.

| F. TIME-OUT:

1.
2.

3.

The Time Out is conducted immediately before starting the procedure.

During the Time Out, all other noise and activities in the room are suspended (to the extent

possible, without compromising patient safety).

Use the medical record and patient armband to verify:

a. Patients’ identity verified using two patient identifiers per Patient Care Services:-Pelicy
Identification of Patients Policy and comparing two sources of identification (patient’s
armband, if visible, and medical record). If the armband is not visible during the Time
Out, one of the following alternatives must be used:

i. A patient identification band is placed on an exposed extremity (alterative wrist,
ankle) and this band is used to confirm two patient identifiers during the Time
Out.

ii. Two team members confirm the patient identity (two identifiers) upon arrival to
the surgical/procedural area. One of the team members must remain with the
patient during the entire pre-procedural phase and confirm the patient identity
during the Time Out.

iii. Two team members confirm patient identity (two identifiers) upon arrival to the
surgical/procedural area. The two patient identifiers are written on the white
board in the procedure room and confirmed by the two team members. During
the final Time Out, the team confirms patient identity against the information on

the white board.
_ 1) This patient identification process shall be used in surgical services.
b. Surgeon/HRphysician/AHP calls for the Time Out after the patient is prepped and
draped.
c. The circulating RN/assistive HCP (such as Emergency Medical Technician, Respiratory

Care Practitioner, Radiology Technician, Anesthesia Technician):
i. Uses the consent form to read the patient’s name, approved second identifier,
and procedure.
ii. Verifies that-the alcohol-based prep was allowed at least 3 minutes to dry and
fumes te-dissipated before draping.
e-d. The anesthesiologist (if applicable, or circulating RN if no anesthesiologist present)
states antibiotic administered, dose and time.

e. The clrculatmg RNIassnstlve HCP—(sush—as—Eme#geney—Medaeal—Ieehm;an-

i. Verlf' ies antlblotlc selectlon is approprlate to procedure
ii. States antibiotic re-dosing interval
iii. Sets a timer for 30 minutes less than the re-dosing interval (i.e., if the re-
dosing interval is 2 hours, set the timer for 1 hour and 30 minutes)
df.  The surgeon/tiRphysician/AHP states the intended procedure, verifies the site is
marked (if applicable) and asks if all agree.
e-g. The scrubbed person states agreement and readiness for consented procedure.
£h.  All Staff members in the OR at the time of the time out must state “I Agree” or state their
concern/discrepancy.
Initiation of the Time Out is the responsibility of the surgeon/tHRphysician/AHP performing the
procedure.
The Time Out is conducted in a fail-safe mode:
a. The surgery/invasive procedure is not started until all questions are resolved.
The time out includes all members of the procedural team who will be participating in the
procedure at its inception.

81



| Patient Care Services Procedure-Manruat
Universal Protocol
Page 6 of 6

| 7. The circulating RN or healthcare provider assisting the LHR-physician/AHP is responsible for
documentation of the Time Out in the patient's medical record.
8.

If two or more procedures are being performed on the same patient, a Time Out is performed to
confirm each subsequent procedure before it is initiated.

G. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
8-1. Patient Care Services: Identification of Patients Policy

82



(c‘? Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Administrative Policy
Patient Care

ISSUE DATE: NEW SUBJECT: Decision Making for
Unrepresented Patients
| REVISION DATE(S): NEW POLICY NUMBER: 8610-397
Department Approval: 07/17
Administrative Policies and Procedures Committee Approval: 07/17
Medical Executive Committee Approval: 08/17

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. POLICY:

1. Preamble:

a.

This Tri-City Medical Center policy provides a process for health care professionals to
make medical treatment decisions on behalf of an incapacitated patient who lacks a
surrogate decision maker and when there is no known family member who is willing and
able to make medical treatment decisions on behalf of the patient. Despite their
incapacity, such “unrepresented” patients are entitled to have ethically and medically
appropriate medical decisions made on their behalf and to have these decisions made in
their best interest. The process set forth in this policy is intended to meet these goals.
This policy is considered necessary since no clear-cut legal guidelines exist that cover
these circumstances. This policy is designed to provide uniformity and consistency
within the institutional setting of California’s general acute care hospitals on the process
to make medical treatment decisions for unrepresented patients.

Decisions made without clear knowledge of an unrepresented patient's specific
treatment preferences, must be made in the patient's best interest and taking into
consideration the patient’s personal history, values and beliefs to the extent that these
are known. Decisions about treatment should be based on sound medical advice and
should be made without the influence of material conflicts of interest. These decisions
must be made with a focus on the patient’s interests, and not the interests of providers,
the institutions, or other affected parties. In this regard, appropriate heailth care decisions
include both the provision of needed medical treatment and the avoidance of non-
beneficial or excessively burdensome treatment, or treatment that is medically ineffective
or contrary to generally-accepted health care standards.

This policy is procedural in nature and applies to most medical decisions for which
informed consent is usually required. This policy is meant to support the institution’s
underlying consent policy.

Adoption of this policy does not preclude any party from seeking judicial intervention.
Appropriate judicial remedies may include a timely court order authorizing the provision,
withdrawing, or withholding of treatment or appointment of a conservator; however,
courts are not necessarily the proper forum in which to make health care decisions.

2. When Use of This Policy is Appropriate:

a.

This policy may be used when all of the following conditions are met:

i. The patient has been determined by the primary physician (with assistance from
appropriate consulting physicians if necessary) to lack capacity to make health
care decisions. Capacity means a patient’s ability to understand the nature and
consequences of proposed health care, including its significant benefits, risks,

83



Administrative Policy: Patient Care
Decision Making for Unrepresented Patients

Page 2 of 4

3.

and alternatives, and to make and communicate a health care decision.
Conditions for which psychiatric or psychological treatment may be required do
not, in and of themselves, constitute a lack of capacity to make health care
decisions.

i, No agent, conservator, or guardian has been designated to act on behalf of the
patient.

iii. There is no individual health care directive or instruction in the patient's medical
record or other available sources that would eliminate the need for a surrogate
decision maker.

iv. No surrogate decision maker or family member can be located who is reasonably
available and who is willing and able to serve. Efforts to locate a surrogate
should be diligent and may include contacting the facility from which the patient
was referred, and contacting public health or social service agencies known to
have provided treatment for the patient.

This policy does not address the criteria for determining and appointing an appropriate decision
maker when one or more are available and willing to serve. And finally, this policy is not meant
to be applied in emergency medical situations.

B. PROCEDURE:

1.

When use of this policy is appropriate, as outlined above, medical decisions will be made by a
multi-disciplinary team whose members shall include, but not be limited to, individuals directly
involved with the care of the patient.

It is recommended that the multi-disciplinary team include an attending physician, nurse familiar
with the patient, social worker familiar with the patient, chair or vice-chair of the ethics
committee, non-medical (community) member of the ethics committee or other appropriate
committee and, if available and appropriate, consulting clinicians and pastoral care staff. It is
very important to include on the multi-disciplinary team a person who will represent the patient’s
interests.

Some patients may have a family member or friend who is unable or unwilling to take full
responsibility for making health care decisions on behalf of the patient, but who is willing to
serve as part of this team. If no such person exists, the hospital may consider including an
ombudsman, patient advocate, bioethicist, community member, or other person whose role is to
protect the patients’ interests. If it is not practicable to include such a person on the {BFmulti-
disciplinary team in a particular case, document the reasons therefore.

In order to determine the appropriate medical treatment for the patient, the multi-disciplinary
team should:

a. Review the diagnosis and prognosis of the patient and assure itself of the accuracy
thereof.
b. Determine appropriate goals of care by weighing the following considerations:

i. Patient’s previously-expressed wishes, if any and to the extent known
ii. Relief of suffering and pain
iii. Preservation or improvement of function

iv. Recovery of cognitive functions
V. Quality and extent of life sustained
vi. Degree of intrusiveness, risk or discomfort of treatment
vii. Cultural or religious beliefs, to the extent known
c. Establish a care plan based upon the patient’s diagnosis and prognosis and the

determination of appropriate goals of care. The care plan should determine the

appropriate level of care, including categories or types of procedures and treatments.
d. Notify the patient that:

i. He or she has been determined incapacitated;

ii. It has been determined that he or she lacks a surrogate decision maker;

iii. Medical intervention has been prescribed; and



Administrative Policy: Patient Care
Decision Making for Unrepresented Patients

Page 30of 4

10.

iv. He or she has the opportunity to seek judicial review of the above
determinations.

sirsmsianses:
fe. If the patient will be administered antipsychotic drugs, consider obtaining the review of
an independent physician.

g-f. Limit end of life decisions (such as withholding or withdrawing life-sustaining treatment,
ordering hospice care) to patients who are terminally ill, comatose, or in a persistent
vegetative state.

Except to the extent that such a factor is medically relevant, any medical treatment decision

made pursuant to this policy shall not be biased based on the patient's age, sex, race, color,

religion, ancestry, national origin, disability, marital status, sexual orientation (or any other
category prohibited by law), the ability to pay for health care services, or avoidance of burden to
family/others or to society.

Under the terms of this policy, the multi-disciplinary team may make the same treatment

decisions, and will have the same limitations, as does an agent appointed pursuant to a power

of attorney for health care specified under current law.8;# However, this policy shall not apply to
decisions pertaining to disposition of remains, autopsies, or anatomical gifts; specific laws apply
to these procedures.

The multi-disciplinary team must assure itself that the medical decision is made based on sound

medical advice, is in the patient’s best interest and takes into account the patient’s values, to the

extent known. In determining the best interest of the patient, it is not required that life support be
continued in all circumstances, where treatment is otherwise non-beneficial or is medically
ineffective or contrary to generally-accepted health care standards, when the patient is
terminally ill and suffering, or where there is no reasonable expectation of the recovery of
cognitive functions.

Agreement on Treatment:

a. If all members of the multi-disciplinary team agree to the appropriateness of providing
treatment, it shall be provided.
b. If all members of the multi-disciplinary team agree to the appropriateness of withholding

or withdrawing treatment, it shall be withdrawn or withheld. Any implementation of a
decision to withhold or withdraw life-sustaining medical treatment will be the
responsibility of the primary treating physician.

Disagreement on Treatment:

a. If the members of the multi-disciplinary team disagree about the care plan, the ethics
committee, ethics resource expert(s) or other resource experts will meet with the team to
explore their disagreement and facilitate resolution.

b. If agreement is reached either to provide or to forgo treatment, the decision of the multi-
disciplinary team then becomes final.
c. If agreement still is not reached, current treatments will be continued and any other

medically necessary treatments provided, until such time that the issue is resolved
through court intervention or the disagreement is otherwise resolved. Court-imposed
legal remedies should be sought only in extreme circumstances and as a last resort.

d. In all cases, appropriate pain relief and other palliative care shall be continued.
Exceptional Circumstances:
a. Legal counsel should be consulted if a decision to withdraw or withhold treatment is

likely to result in the death of the patient and the situation arises in any of the following

circumstances:

i. The patient’s condition is the result of an injury that appears to have been
inflicted by a criminal act.

ii. The patient’s condition was created or aggravated by a medical accident.

iii. The patient is pregnant.

iv. The patient is a parent with sole custody or responsibility for support of a minor
child.

85



Administrative Policy: Patient Care
Decision Making for Unrepresented Patients

Page 4 of 4
11. Documentation:
a. Signed, dated and timed medical record progress notes will be written for the following:
i. The findings used to conclude that the patient lacks medical decision-making
capacity.

ii. The finding that there is no advance health care directive, no conservator,
guardian or other available decision maker, and no health care instructions in the
patient’s medical record or other available sources.

iii. The attempts made to locate surrogate decision makers and/or family members
and the results of those attempts.

iv. The bases for the decision to treat the patient and/or the decision to withhold or
withdraw treatment.

V. Any information from the ethics committee or other consult, should it be
convened.

C. REFERENCE(S):
California Health and Safety Code Section 1418.8

California Probate Code Section 4735

California Probate Code Section 4650(c)

California Probate Code Section 4717

California Probate Code Section 4736

California Probate Code Section 4617

California Probate Code Section 4683

California Probate Code Section 4652

Health and Safety Code Sections 7100 (disposition of remains), 7113 (autopsy), and 7150 et
seq. (anatomical gift).

California Probate Code Section 4734

CONOGOA~WN =

—_
e



(@)Tri-City Health Care District
Oceanside, California TRACKED

Administrative Policy-Manual CHANGES

District Operations

| ISSUE DATE:

07/91 SUBJECT: MANDATORY REPORTING
REQUIREMENTS

REVISION DATE: 12/91, 11/94, 02/95, 03/96, 04/97, POLICY NUMBER: 8610-236

07/99, 06/02, 05/03, 07/09, 06/11

Department Approval: 42/1604/17
Administrative Policies & Procedures Committee Approval: 02/4504/17
Organizational Compliance Committee Approval: 08/17

. . . M
Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 03/15
Board of Directors Approval: 03/15
A. PURPOSE:

1.

To objectively and systematically monitor and evaluate quality and appropriateness of patient
care, pursue opportunities to improve patient care, assure patient safety and resolve identified
quality/risk issues on an ongoing basis. To identify and prevent serieus-injury, actual or potential,
harm to a patient or visitor of Tri-City Health Care District (TCHD). Incident reporting enhances
the quality of patient care and reduces healthcare and medical liability.

2, This policy/procedure consists of the following areas for reporting:
a. Adverse Unexpected-Events
b. Sentinel Events
c. Serious Reportable Events
ed. Unusual Occurrences (Title 22)

&3. For Violence Against Hospital Personnel —~ see Administrative Policy: Assault and Battery
Reporting Process 241.

e4. RL +—TFhe-purpes g 5 3

DEFINITION(S):

1. Adverse Events: A patient safety event that results in harm to a patient including surgical
events, product or device events, patient protection events, care management events,
environmental events, and criminal events.

2. Near Miss/Close Call: A patient safety event that did not reach the patient; also called
good catch.

£3. Root Cause Analysis - is a process for identifying the-basic or causal factor(s) that-underlyingies
variation in performance, including the occurrence or possible occurrence of a sentinel event.

4. Sentinel Events: A patient safety event (not primarily related to the natural course of the
patient’s illness or underlying condition) that reaches a patient and results in death,
permanent harm, or severe temporary harm. Sentinel events are a subcategory of adverse
events.

5. Serious Reportable Events: as developed by the National Quality Forum see National
Quality Forum List of Serious Reportable Events 2011.

g6. Unusual Occurrences (Title 22): Any occurrence such as epidemic outbreak, poisoning,
fire, major accident, disaster, other catastrophe or unusual occurrence with threatens the
welfare, safety or health of patients, personnel or visitors.

3-7. Violence Against Hospital Personnel: acts of assault or battery against on-duty hospital

personnel.

87



| Administrative Policy-Manual — District Operations
Mandatory Reporting Requirements — 8610-236
| Page2of14

6-C.

POLICY:
It is the District’s policy to investigate any sentinel event, unusual occurrence, serious adverse
event, or serious reportable even“rearmiss- from an interdisciplinary perspective and take
action to reduce the risk of recurrence. Each-serious-adverse-event

a-1.

a.

Each sentinel event, unusual-oscurrence;-adverse event, and serious reportable
event will be lntenswely assessed through the use of the Root Cause Analy3|s (RCA)

Every effort will be made to mclude the physmlans and staff mvolved in the incident
in the RCA process

A report of each RCA shall be communicated to the Quality Assurance/Performance
Improvement/Patient Safety Committee (QA/PI/PS) of the Medical Staff, for periodic
reporting to the Board of Directors throughvia-the Professional Affairs Committee (PAC)
and Board of Directors meeting.

RCAs shall not be reported to the Joint Commission, nor to any external agency or
organization, except upon specific, written advice of legal counsel. The Sentirel-Event
investigation and reporting process, including development of the RCA, is intended to

remain w1th|n the bounds of Medteal-—Staﬁ-Peer—Rewew—subjeet—te-au—appheable

Attorney-Client and

Attorney Work Product pnwleges

88



| Administrative Policy-Manual — District Operations
Mandatory Reporting Requirements — 8610-236
| Page 3 of 14

&:D.

B:E.

REPORTING TIMEFRAMES:

a1.

6:2.
23,

The first person to identify an incidentadverse-event will notify his/her supervisor as soon as it is

safe to do so.

b-a.  The supervisor must assure that the incidentserious-adverse-events isare reported the
Director of Risk Management, Chief Nurse Executive, and the Director of Regulatory
Compliance. These CNE will assure that the event is then reported to the Chief Executive
Officer, and Chief Operating Officer--ets-as-appropriate prior to reporting to regulatory
agencies.

The patient’s primary and/or involved physician(s) is notified.

Based on the incidentsireumstanees, a decision will be made to report the-event-to the

approprlate regulatory agencyies wnthm the requlred tlmeframe All—events—mqamrg—neﬁﬁsaﬂen

Reporte& incidentsevents are communicated to the appropriate medical staff Quality Review

committees; the-Medical-Exesutive-Committee-and the Board of Directors.
IncidentsGritical-events may be reported in an expedited manner by Administration via verbal or

electronic methods

89



Administrative Policy-Manua! — District Operations
Mandatory Reporting Requirements — 8610-236
Page 4 of 14

90



| Administrative Policy-Manual — District Operations
Mandatory Reporting Requirements — 8610-236
| Page5of14




| Administrative Policy-Manual — District Operations
Mandatory Reporting Requirements — 8610-236
| Page 6 of 14

B-H.

ATTACHMENT(S):
1. Reporting Grid
2. National Quality Forum List of Serious Reportable Events 2011

RELATED DOCUMENTS:
3-1. Administrative Policy: Assault and Battery Reporting Process 241

REFERENCES:

1. CA Health & Safety Code §§ 1279.1, 1279.2, 1279.3, and 1280.4
1+2. California Code of Evidence Section 1157

3. California Hospital Association Consent Manual 201614

4. Title 17

5. Title 22, Section 70736

92



80c# 1deQ
991095 [B100S uelpoisny aled piug
80¢# BuRLAA Ul SINOH 9E UIYIAA WBWS2I0JUT MET 8207 ‘isuopoeld yjesH
Koljod ulwpy | puy-suoyd Aqg Ajsjelpawiw) | 10 SB0IAISS SADSI0Id PIYD jusupedag 82iA19S |B100S €vLLLL-POLLL :BPOY [eusd asnqy piiyd (pejoadsng)
1daq juswypeda( spiooay |BAPSIN 1010} uonoas

Sp1023Y |22Ipay

UMIq Jo SAep 0 UIUUA

Jensibay Ajunon obaig ueg

WalD 8jesiyag yuig

apo9 Asjes pue yyesH

yuig jo uoneoyiad

LoIOaS UoRUBABI J8oue)

3INO/AnsiBay sisoubelp (H4a2) wiesH anang €66 uonoeg ‘suone|nbey
ABojoosuQ JO syuow Xis UIYYIAA 10 Juawypedaq elwopen Jens|bay ejeq ABojooup Jo apo) eluiogen ‘2L 9L | swseldoap sjqeyoday/isouen)
juswsabeuep
ssty ‘Ajunoag ‘yers buisinN
sAep ‘uswyedaq 82188 [B100S
oLE# | Buppom g - nodas uapyum pue ‘sielysibey aoyQ ssauisng 026 Uonodas ‘L1 apll HOD 90UB|oIA ollsawog
Koljod “uiwpy Alsjeipaww ao1j0d suoyd JUBWa%I0JU] ME] [B207] ‘Weswypedsq Aousbiawg |  L9LLL/O9LLL @POD |eudd VO SWIOIA Jinessy
yyeaH Jo ‘jdeq ‘uiesH
poday | asAojdwg (SYBd) seonues
vve# | Aunlu) sefoldws "sousinooo Aojeinbay B Jeuoissajold ZvZ'0ve # 9pon jeuad v |suuosiad asen yjesy
Aoljod "ulwpy | $0 sInoY Z/ UyIm jeD auoyd JUSWa3I0juUg MET] [BIOT] juswpedsq Ainoas 80S# 9’V Ang-up o) Auapeq 1 jynessy
1daq 200 ssauisng
Aousbirawz 1eD auoyd Ryaioog suewny ‘uawypedsq Aausbilawg sajg jewiuy
0L0#
Jaquinu Aajod "ONDL je s3v
‘Aatjod Buoday 10} syuswailinbal Buiuodal i0jeulplood Jojeulpioo)
jusplou)/3vys/ay leioads ou ale a1sy) yoleasay jeoulD/en] yoleasay fesjul|n/eut Buipoday peypedxg
B Ngjes joalgng "SpJ0231 [EDIpaW 8y} Jo |leaiunD jo Joyebsanu} qnsg |eau|D jo Jojebyseau) | 10) SpiepuElS pue suonuyag
yoleasay | Med se pue suuoy Jodas ased | ‘el ] [eojuD Jo Jojebisaauy | gng /leul [eoiun) jo Joyebiseau) Juawabeuey ejeq Alsjes
eolud:Aoljod | auy w1 painydes aq o} ale say lediduud/aus el [eaunn |edpuud/uenisAyd Buipuany |eatul)) Jof asuepinb Ho| (3v) uen3 ssianpy
0LO# 10)euiplo09

Jaquinu Adljod
‘foljod Buioday

Jojeuipioon

UdJeasay [eolul|g/ieut
|eaiul) jo Jojebiysanu|

JuapIouU)/3YS/aY ‘pJ0234 Yoseasal yoseasay [edlUljD/ieU) | 9ns /el ) [eaiulo jo soyebisaau| Bunioday pappadx3
9 Ajajes 108lqng pue {eaipaw sjuedidied |esiulD Jo Jojebisanul gng [edipuud/sisioewieyd [ o} spiepuelg pue suoguysq
yosiessay | Yoeasal ay) u) pajuawnoop | ‘[eu] [edul) jo soyebnsaaug Bniq jeuonebisanugueoisiyd JJuawabeuely eyeq Alajes
[eauld:Aalod 8q 1snwW syav v [ediouLd/eUS (Bl [EDIUND Buipuapy [ealul|D Joj @ouepinb HOI | (YAV) uonoeay Bnig asieApy
102010¥d MOH/NIHM WOHM OL WOHM A8 alnivis IONVLISNNONID
¥O0 INIOd NOILVINO3Y
Etel EEEED
ONOL
puo bunioday
v1jo 0 sbed |

9€£2-0198 — sjuawainbay bupoday Aojepuepy
suopesadQ Jopysiq ~ ferdep-Aoljod saensiuiupy |

93



[01}UOD UsHOB U}

sYaNs
ajpsau Joj Ho| Aunful sjeledas
sasn yjjeeH eakojdw]

JS80IAIBS ‘Hoday eanebiysanuj ‘Uied auloq poojg
yjjesH oakojdw3 10sIMBdNG SjeIpawiw| a3 Jo yyesH sahojdw Jos|nuadng 08y YHSO IeJ pue pad | ainsodx3 sg/Aunlu) ons ajpasN
8cz# Wodel uspum Hdao yeig LE202 €D (sousnnoo0
Aoljod ‘uiuipy 0} AjajeIpawiw ||ed auoyd | HJQ@D ‘obaiqg ueg 4o Awnon | Buisiny juswyedaq Asusbiawg 2Z sl {ensnun) sbuns asq s|dyiny

(uonenys
GSoc# | uanaib) swely suny sjqeuosesl sapuaby

£aljod "wiwipy | uiyym Aj@jeipawi suoydsia | juswWasioju3 MeT 8007 Juauwpedsq Ajunosg uaned buissiy
Iun yyesH Jswpedeg Aousbiawzg (souaunooQ
|leyusyy ‘1daq HJQ9 o} 18] Aq pamoj|o} Jabeuey uonessiuiwpy fensnupn) {g3) sinoy
AousBrew3 Jeuwt inoy ¢ 18jje suoyd Hdads Jauonyoeld aied eeH | gegl/ 'L€20/ UoNosg gz oL | #2 puoheq spioy yieaH jejusiy

00se
looojoud ‘0L 1 Wd Buisn yjjeay ANQ 01 suodal ¥2D 'LL 8L 0L uonoes $8INZ|9S/SSBUSNO0IOSUO0Y)
ueaisAyd dllgnd 0} uojleulojul xe4 OYm 199J0 UjlesH |ea0T uerdisAugd GZLE apo) Ajsses 3 yjlesH ui sasde

Aysiwayn

‘0L N Buisn yyes aliang g ABojoigosoi - Aiojelogen (a1qe)
0} UojeuLIojul Xe 4 ‘aseasip ‘1auonnoeld [01uo) uonosul Apqisuodsay Bunodey e9g)
OLL# uo Buipuadaep yjeaH juswpedaq yyesH odland ‘Juswipedaq Aousbiawg Gzl 9poD A9ses 7 yieaH (. algeyoday)

|oJjuog uondayU)

aqnd o} Ajsjelpaww suoyd

Jauojoeld |0JU0T) UOHOBYUY|

Jels buisinN

00SZ ¥OO ‘v 4aideyd '2| sl

saseas|(] snolos;u|

s80IBg
8A199)0.d )InpY Ajunon

60¢# 1deq 0} SIS0 iy JuswsoIoug
IAIBS 8100 sAeq BUIOAA T UILIAA MET] |BI07 JO UBWSPNGWO uepoisny LE9G1—009G L #
60€# | -Hodoy usnupa Alsieipaluwl) aled wia) 6uo 0} yodal ale) ‘lsuopnoeld yyesH apo9 uonnyisu| 9 alej|sp asnqy }inpy juspuadag
Koyjod “uwpy -poday auoyds|a| Aoe4 917 e u Buwinoag juawpedaq 8o1nBS [BI100S 89¢ UoRIag :8poY Jeusd pue 18p|3 (pajoadsng)
9ecH 09l saho|dws
Kotjod “uiwpy | podas uspum pue suoydsia| 8921|0d apisueasn 1daq Ajunoag -1 L uonoag ‘spod [Buad Vo uou - asn Bnug (jebay))
SaoInRS Hdad
s,ualpjiyn Aq papirosd wioy Buisn sisoubelp Bupjew uepisAyd ZES9 HOD jueyu) 1o
2 S,UBWOAA |  sisouBeip o sfep Og UIUIAA Hdao Jo sishjeue ayj Buiuuoped geq ZLepL| sme4 ulsiosjeq [ewosowolyn
7000.10¥d MOH/NIHM WOHM OL WOHM Ag 3lnivis JONV.LSWNOAIO
¥O LNIOd NOILYIND3Y
JONIYI4TY
OINOL

1 4o | abed |
9£2-01 98 — sjuswalinbay Buiuoday Aojepuepy
suogieladQ Jo1)S|Q ~ feRueN-AO0d annessiLwpY |

94



m.:._umoo‘_n_ SOd !
Z'Al Adllod SOd
82ZH#

£oyjod uiwpy

269¢-vvL (GLP)
Xej} Jo

9zle-vvL (SLY)
:auoyds|a} Ag
‘2leme se Uoos sy

Hddo

(SWD) saoimisg presipap
pue aIedIpa 10} si3ju8)

aoue|dwo)
Aoje|nbay jo Jooanq

GEG1 /. uonoss

(e)/£20/ uonoeg

¥090 ‘zZ L

yiesp

10 @SNED 8y} Sem Sy 10U 1o
Jayyaym paunbai si Bupoday
(1)3)e1L zay uonoss

y40 v

JusSbelUEW JoIABYaq J0}
Julel)sal JO uoIsnjoes
ul juagied s|iym yyesp Juaned

ainpaooid S0d

Jeak | 1oy Aypoey
Aq 8y uo podau Juspioui
‘Bunum ul pauyuod jeonoeld

HdQO [euoibal pue SO

Z'AL fdllod §Od | se uoos se HddD “1eulwexa ‘HdQD
8CZH |esipaw 0} soud pajoeuoD | PUE JBUILEXS [BIIPBLU ‘180140 uonessiuIwpy GEGL/. '/€20/ UONORS apIoINs ‘9’| ‘SEOUB)ISWINDIID
Aoljod uiwpy JUBWIBIONUD ME| [BD0T] JUSWAIOJUS ME] |BDOT Jauonnoeld ae) yyesH 22 9L |ensnun o} anp ylesp juaijed
JOWNOL
— sday 14 'pajsenbal se 0620L OSH
aInpaoold SOd L€-0T/8 wio} 8je(dwo) | Jeuuew pue swiy e 1 HdGo uempishyd 6vSCL
Z'N Aaljod s0d Aejeipawi suoyd Jsulwex3 [edlpsiy -lauonijoeld ared yjesH Ze oL yieaq jusned
‘lenuepy JI sy} (1suonnoeld
Ul punoj wioy YN ayy Buisn |0J3U0D) UONO8}U] JO ‘BpMPIL
ZL'Ol#| UlesH 2liand 0} uoljeuuoju 8sInu ‘NY 'vd ‘suefisAyd) Z0SZ YOO | Jepiosip ofisesed Jo SNoyosut O
|o1u0?) uonaslu| llew Jo xej} ‘auoyd 1220 YjlesH o0 Japinoad aseayyeay Auy ¥ Jeydeys ‘2| el | aousjeaasd snpun 1o syeaIqINO
T ITNETS
ujjesy sakojdwy
|020}01d sAep Buppom Ja1nsu) €oovL -S 8
ueisiugd S ulypm Hoday USlUAA saafo|dw3 B JoAojdwg ueisAud | oL YO £602E @poD Joge sassauy|f|/sauniu] jeuonednaoQ
S20INIOS Hd-SEN# WwJoj 1o |14 yosuelg aseasi(q o1}suan) annejuasalday (NXd)
2 S,UBWOAN abieyos|p jueyul 0} JoLd HdQD | s821n8S s,uaipliy) °g S,usWopp |lesnjal 3s8] Buluaaiog uiogmaN
(pio sunoy 2, 0}
dn sulogmau J0 Juawuopueqge)
08E# sinoy gy uey} Japuauns Aejunjop
Koljod "ulwpy | Jaje} ou ‘gjqissod se uoos sy S82IAI8g BARO8}0Id pPHUD Jauonpnoeld a1e) yjesH g8o¢1 ds ‘Juswiuopueqy uIogMaN
S90ISS welboid Buusalog
s,ualpjyn sisoubelp uisjold ola4-eydyy L£G9 uonoag ‘suonenbay
8 S,UBWOAA [eful Jo shep Og UILIAA HdAd JuswiedsQ spiooay |edlpeiy 40 8p0J eluloyifed ‘L| L | Snjed e ul sjoeyeQg aqny jeinsN
1000.10¥d MOH/NIHM WOHM Ol WOHM A8 3LnLvis FONV.LSWNONID
H0 INIOd NOILYINO3H
ErlENEEE}-]
OWOL

¥l joz abed |
9£2-0198 — sjuawalnbay bupoday Alojepuep
suopesedQ Jolsiq ~ ferde-Aoljod snensiuwpy |

95



. OWOIPUAS ahsy
Joooj0id 289, wuoy Bujpodas Buisn
ueishyd sisouBelp jo shep / UiyIp Hdao uepisAyd Buipusiy S'0€E uoNoas OSH awolpuig afey
sisoubelp L8204 HDD
SAOINISS LLI0gMaN apew oym uepisAyd ZZ 9L
s,uaipjiyd Jo aseas|q Hy Jo Hodal 90O saJiAlSS s,Ualpiud 0LG9 uoioes YOO ulogmsn —
Y S,USLIOAA ased y,, wuoy Buipodal asn ¥ S,UBWOAA - HJAD Jauonoeld sied yyesH L1 aptl | esessiq (HY) onAjowaH snsayy
CERITVETS (06 - ON youelig aseasi(q U
Sualpjiyd | - Sa) # wioj Jno [i4 seldxe UlleaH alqnd juaned e sem
Y S,UBLLOAA ‘pausgjsuely Juaned usypp Jo awyedaq elwoyljed | Juejul a1aym aalejuasalday Jun pautelqo jou uawoadsg nNdd
Jauoiss|wwo?) |[emnynouby
Aindaq ouby jo 1dag
1daq ‘00 182yj0 YilesH |edao Jsuonioeld aled yjesH €001 Y00
Aousbiawg sinoy g uiyIm ||ed auoyd | 1B juswpedsqg Aousbiawzgy yuswypedaq Aousbiawg g oL Buiuosiod spioyysad
a'IA Ad110d SOd PP 6EL UORI3S "D'S'N 2 SlIL
‘906 '82¢ sinoy g/ Vv4OH souejdwo) 66'LLEL UbBnoly /LEL BPOD
S3ldyod "ulwpy shep 4 Hdado KioyenBsy o Jojoaug fiajes pue yyesH (v4g00) UONE|OIA JBjsuel] juaied

££°€08 Ul paquasap se Jeak yoes
J0 .1 Aenuer Aq 61p€ a4 wuod
uo yQq4 o} woday Ainfu) snoueg
pue yiesQq pajeley aonaq
|esipay jo Alewwng jenuuy

AO
; vad JUAN ‘lew
5 SHHVAIDADITTO ai e LMOLDIUN SI AN
LOC#| -g6.-L0g auoyd pue yoosevad | # VA4 40 ylead-H4nWevad JustiaBeuey ysiy jo Jojoalg €08 44D L2 uoounjjely aaneqg
foltod unwpy WLOJ BIA SINOY $Z UIUNAA Aanfu) snopag-y4N- Jsuonnoeld yjeaH 0V 321A8Q [BOIpSN 8jes 0} anp yjeaq/Ainlu) jusied
80126 VO ‘obaiq ues
4]
ayng aAuQ ueyjodonsiy 5252
1an8] Aq pamojjo4
£190-p28 GEGL/. uonoeg
(008) :euoyd Aq ‘jeonoeid aoueldwon (e)/g20/ uonoeg juiensal [ealbins
DAl Adllod S0d A|qeuoseai se uoos sy Hdad Aiojeinbay yo Jojoang W00 ‘Tz SpIL |EQIPSW Ul 8IYM Liesp jusiied
1020.10¥d MOH/NIHM WOHM O1 WOHM A8 3Lnivis JONVLSWNOHID
O INIOd NOILYINOD3AY
el ENEEE}]
OWOL
¥l jo ¢ abed |

9€2-0198 — sjuawainbay bunoday Aojepuepy
suopesadQ JopIsiq - tertueyy-Aoljod annessiuwpy |

96



auoydayjel 1962 1oy Ainfu
lou03 UoRaau) AQ UoRENSIILDE ISy | -228-008 SUINOH SHeA 19PiN0Id B1ED WIESH | auin0en pooupys [BuoneN | SUIOOBA B0 103y 8sianpy
Jeah | Joy (1onpuoasiw
Apoey Aq ajy uo 8ouaLINOQ aoueldwon |enxas yejs jo uoyebsje
Buim ajeudoidde Aojeinbay jo Jo108a1Qg "*8°1) SI0)ISIA Jo yeys ‘Juaned
8ZTH Ui pawyuoo - jeoijoeld SE JUSWI2I0JUD ME| |BIOT uonessIuIWpY GESL/ '/€L0/ uonoasg aU3 JO aiejjam ay} usjealy)
Aaij0d "utwpy Kigeuoseal se uoos sy Hdado Jauopoeid ale) yyesH ZZ oML By} SeoUaLNII0 [ensnuf
deg
290IA9S [el00S
N uyesy jusweoioue Jsuonoeid
|eJolreyag auoydasje) Aq Ajelelpawiw| | me| [B20] PUB WIRIA papuUsiU| ale) yjesHasidesayioyshsd josele} 113 03 Jeaiyt
0L0# ‘p10923i Yoseasal

Jaquinu Adijod
‘fojogq Buipoday
juapidu/3vs/3v

pue [esipaw sjuedioed
YoJeasal 8y} ui pajuswnoop
g isnw s3vys Iy

JOJEUIPI00T) YoIBasay

Buipoday paypadxg

® Agjeg10algng | ‘jpuuosiad ayg jeu| [eodluyd [eoluyn/ioyebnsanu) [eul |eoluD jo Jojebisanu)] | o) SPIEPUE)S PUB SUOIIUYS(] 2128S8M (01Ul 01 DSIEISS
yosessay pue uejaisAyd Buipuapy qngsoiebiyseau) | qns /leu] [esiuild Jo Jojebiseaul Juswabeuely ejeq Algjes Y d [B2AUD 0} paje
fesjusty :Aaijod 0} Ajejeipawiw| Yoday |edioulid/els [eu L |esiul) fediduidyueioisAyd Suipuspy [e2ILND Joj @ouepind HA)| | SB (IVS) Juaag esieApy snouss
7020.10¥d MOH/NIHM WOHM oL IWOHM A8 3LNLVis JONV.LSNNONID
¥O INIOd NOLLVYIND3Y
EboE}EEEN]
OWol _
vl Jo ¥ abed |

9€2-0198 — sjuswasnnbay buipoday Aojepuep
suopnesadQ J91ISI] — feRue-Aol0d aAlRNSIUIWPY _

97



| Administrative Policy-Manual — District Operations

Mandatory Reporting Requirements — 8610-236
Page 0 of 14

National Quality Forum
List of Serious Reportable Events - 2011

1. SURGICAL OR INVASIVE PROCEDURE EVENTS

1A. Surgery or other invasive procedure performed on the wrong site (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

1B. Surgery or other invasive procedure performed on the wrong patient (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

1C. Wrong surgical or other invasive procedure performed on a patient (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

1D. Unintended retention of a foreign object in a patient after surgery or other invasive procedure
(updated)

Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

1E. Intraoperative or immediately postoperative/postprocedure death in an ASA Class 1 patient
(updated)

Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices

2. PRODUCT OR DEVICE EVENTS

2A. Patient death or serious-injury associated with the use of contaminated drugs, devices, or
biologics provided by the healthcare setting (updated)

Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

2B. Patient death or serieus-injury associated with the use or function of a device in patient care, in

which the device is used or functions other than as intended (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

2C. Patient death or serieus-injury associated with intravascular air embolism that occurs while
being cared for in a healthcare setting (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

3. PATIENT PROTECTION EVENTS

3A. Discharge or release of a patient/resident of any age, who is unable to make decisions, to other

than an authorized person (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

3B. Patient death or serious-injury associated with patient elopement (disappearance) (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

3C. Patient suicide, attempted suicide, or self-harm that results in serieus-injury, while being cared

for in a healthcare setting (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

98



| Administrative Policy-Marual — District Operations
Mandatory Reporting Requirements — 8610-236
| Page1of14

4. CARE MANAGEMENT EVENTS

|  4A. Patient death or serieus-injury associated with a medication error (e.g., errors involving the
wrong drug, wrong dose, wrong patient, wrong time, wrong rate, wrong preparation, or wrong route
of administration) (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

|  4B. Patient death or serious-injury associated with unsafe administration of blood products
(updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

|  4C. Maternal death or serieus-injury associated with labor or delivery in a low-risk pregnancy while
being cared for in a healthcare setting (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers

|  4D. Death or serieus-injury of a neonate associated with labor or delivery in a low-risk pregnancy
(new)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers

|  4E. Patient death or serieus-injury associated with a fall while being cared for in a healthcare setting
(updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

4F. Any Stage 3, Stage 4, and unstageable pressure ulcers acquired after admission/presentation to
a healthcare setting (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

4G. Artificial insemination with the wrong donor sperm or wrong egg (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices

|  4H. Patient death or serieus-injury resulting from the irretrievable loss of an irreplaceable biological
specimen (new)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

|  4l. Patient death or serieus-injury resulting from failure to follow up or communicate laboratory,
pathology, or radiology test resuilts (new)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

5. ENVIRONMENTAL EVENTS

|  5A. Patient or staff death or serious-injury associated with an electric shock in the course of a
patient care process in a healthcare setting (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

5B. Any incident in which systems designated for oxygen or other gas to be delivered to a patient
contains no gas, the wrong gas, or are contaminated by toxic substances (updated)

Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

|  5C. Patient or staff death or serious-injury associated with a burn incurred from any source in the
course of a patient care process in a healthcare setting (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based

99



| Administrative Policy-Manual — District Operations
Mandatory Reporting Requirements — 8610-236
| Page2of14

practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

|  5D. Patient death or serious-injury associated with the use of physical restraints or bedrails while
being cared for in a healthcare setting (updated)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

6. RADIOLOGIC EVENTS

| 6A. Death or serious-injury of a patient or staff associated with the introduction of a metallic object
into the MRI area (new)
Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices

7. POTENTIAL CRIMINAL EVENTS

7A. Any instance of care ordered by or provided by someone impersonating a physician, nurse,
pharmacist, or other licensed healthcare provider (updated)

Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

7B. Abduction of a patient/resident of any age (updated)

Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

7C. Sexual abuse/assault on a patient or staff member within or on the grounds of a healthcare
setting (updated)

Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

7D. Death or serieus-injury of a patient or staff member resulting from a physical assault (i.e.,
battery) that occurs within or on the grounds of a healthcare setting (updated)

Applicable in: hospitals, outpatient/office-based surgery centers, ambulatory practice settings/office-based
practices, long-term care/skilled nursing facilities

100



I’
@Tri-City Health Care District

Oceanside, California
CLEAN COPY
Administrative Policy
District Operations
ISSUE DATE: 07/91 SUBJECT: MANDATORY REPORTING

REQUIREMENTS

REVISION DATE: 12/91, 11/94, 02/95, 03/96, 04/97, POLICY NUMBER: 8610-236

07/99, 06/02, 05/03, 07/09, 06/11

Department Approval: 04/17
Administrative Policies & Procedures Committee Approval: 04/17
Organizational Compliance Committee Approval: 08/17
Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 03/15
Board of Directors Approval: 03/15
A. PURPOSE:
1. To objectively and systematically monitor and evaluate quality and appropriateness of patient

care, pursue opportunities to improve patient care, assure patient safety and resolve identified
quality/risk issues on an ongoing basis. To identify and prevent injury, actual or potential, harm
to a patient or visitor of Tri-City Health Care District (TCHD). Incident reporting enhances the
quality of patient care and reduces healthcare and medical liability.

2. This policy/procedure consists of the following areas for reporting:
a. Adverse Events
b. Sentinel Events
c. Serious Reportable Events
d. Unusual Occurrences (Title 22)

3. For Violence Against Hospital Personnel — see Administrative Policy: Assault and Battery
Reporting Process 241.

DEFINITION(S):

1. Adverse Events: A patient safety event that results in harm to a patient including surgical
events, product or device events, patient protection events, care management events,
environmental events, and criminal events.

2. Near Miss/Close Call: A patient safety event that did not reach the patient; also called good
catch.

3. Root Cause Analysis - is a process for identifying basic or causal factor(s) underlying variation
in performance, including the occurrence or possible occurrence of a sentinel event.

4. Sentinel Events: A patient safety event (not primarily related to the natural course of the
patient’s iliness or underlying condition) that reaches a patient and results in death, permanent
harm, or severe temporary harm. Sentinel events are a subcategory of adverse events.

5. Serious Reportable Events: as developed by the National Quality Forum see National Quality
Forum List of Serious Reportable Events 2011.

6. Unusual Occurrences (Title 22): Any occurrence such as epidemic outbreak, poisoning, fire,
major accident, disaster, other catastrophe or unusual occurrence with threatens the welfare,
safety or health of patients, personnel or visitors.

7. Violence Against Hospital Personnel: acts of assault or battery against on-duty hospital
personnel.

POLICY:

1.

It is the District’s policy to investigate any sentinel event, unusual occurrence, adverse event, or

serious reportable even from an interdisciplinary perspective and take action to reduce the risk

101



Administrative Policy — District Operations
Mandatory Reporting Requirements — 8610-236

Page 1 of 2
of recurrence.
a. Each sentinel event, adverse event, and serious reportable event will be intensively
assessed through the use of the Root Cause Analysis (RCA) process.
b. Every effort will be made to include the physicians and staff involved in the incident in
the RCA process.
c. A report of each RCA shall be communicated to the Quality Assurance/Performance

Improvement/Patient Safety Committee (QA/PI/PS) of the Medical Staff, for periodic
reporting to the Board of Directors through Professional Affairs Committee (PAC) and
Board of Directors meeting.

d. RCAs shall not be reported to the Joint Commission, nor to any external agency or
organization, except upon specific, written advice of legal counsel. The investigation and
reporting process, including development of the RCA, is intended to remain within the
bounds of Attorney-Client and Attorney Work Product privileges.

D. REPORTING TIMEFRAMES:
1. The first person to identify an incident will notify his/her supervisor as soon as it is safe to do so.
a. The supervisor must assure that the incident is reported the Director of Risk
Management, Chief Nurse Executive, and the Director of Regulatory Compliance. The
CNE will assure that the event is then reported to the Chief Executive Officer, and Chief
Operating Officer prior to reporting to regulatory agencies.
2. The patient’s primary and/or involved physician(s) is notified.
3. Based on the incident, a decision will be made to report to the appropriate regulatory agency
within the required timeframe.

E. COMMUNICATION:

1. Reported incidents are communicated to the appropriate medical staff Quality Review
committees and the Board of Directors.

2. Incidents may be reported in an expedited manner by Administration via verbal or electronic
methods.

F. ATTACHMENT(S):
1. Reporting Grid
2. National Quality Forum List of Serious Reportable Events 2011

G. RELATED DOCUMENTS:
1. Administrative Policy: Assault and Battery Reporting Process 241

H. REFERENCES:

CA Health & Safety Code §§ 1279.1, 1279.2, 1279.3, and 1280.4
California Code of Evidence Section 1157

California Hospital Association Consent Manual 2016

Title 17

Title 22, Section 70736

apN=

102



@Tri-City Health Care District
Oceanside, California

Administrative Policy-Manual
District Operations

ISSUE DATE: 01/07 SUBJECT: POLICY AND PROCEDURE
APPROVAL -ADMINISTRATIVE
PROCESS

REVISION DATE: 07/09, 07/12 POLICY NUMBER: 8610-240

Department Approval: 07/17

Administrative Policies & Procedures Committee Approval: 0714807/17

Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 08/15

Board of Directors Approval: 08/15

A PURPOSE:
1. To define Tri-City Healthcare District’s (TCHD) process for the approval of policies.

B. DEFINITION(S):

1. Policy/Procedure: A-peliey-is-a formal, approved, written description of how a governance,
management, or clinical care process is defined, organized, or carried out. A policy covers
broad principles or complex standards requiring Board/Administrative approval and may have
significant legal, regulatory, or financial implications.

a. Documents that may support the policy/procedure;; including but not limited to
practices, precedures; pre-printed orders, and chart forms;; are not defined for the
purposes of this policy.

C. POLICY:
1. The electronic policy management system will be used for all policies and procedures.
2. Policies/procedures are:

a. Reguired-To be reviewed /-of revised perevery-five{5)three-years-or-asrequired-by
change-inregulation regulatory requirements, research, or organizational processes

and submitted through the approval process.
i See Pollmes and Procedures Revnew Grld

a:b. Developed in collaboratlon wuth the medlcal staff- if relevant to medtcal staff actlvmes

and/or direct patient care.
b-c. DevelopedAnd in collaboration with nursing leadership if relevant to direct patient care.
ad. Consistent with professional references, applicable regulations, legal requirements,
accreditation standards, and the mission and philosophy of the organization.
3. Creating and revising documents:

103



| Administrative MarualPolicy- District Operations
Policy and Procedure Approval Process

Page 2 of 4

b.

o

e.

ef.

&a.

d-c.

The editable version (i.e. Word document) will be stored in the electronic policy
management system.

Revisions to the documents will be tracked as changes while going through the
approval process.

Any changes to content, deletions, and/or combining of policies/procedures will
require the full approval process.

4, Approval:
b-a.

Policies/Procedures are submitted to the Board of Directors (BOD) or
Administration for final approval.
i All policies are submitted to the Board of Directors for final approval.
ii. Procedures are submitted to the BOD or Administration for final approval
based on regulatory requirements.
1) Nursing procedure must be approved by the BOD per Title 22
Hii.  Pre-approved by Board Committees prior to submission to the Board:
1) The Human Resource Committee (HRC) approves all administrative
policies that relate to human resource issues.
2) The Finance, Operations, and Planning Committee (FO&P) approves all
administrative policies that relate to finance issues.
3) The Audit, Compliance and Ethics Committee (ACE) approves all
administrative policies that relate to compliance and privacy issues.
4) The Governance/Legislative Committee approves all policies that relate to
the Board of Directors issues, Medical Staff By-Laws and Medical Staff
Rules and Regulations.
5) The Professional Affairs Committee (PAC) approves all others.
Issue Date should be the first final approval date by BOD or Administration.
Revision dates should reflect final approval dates every-additionaleach time the
policy/procedure is approved by the Board/Administration.
The Department Manual Coordinating Committee will coordinate approval at
Medical Staff Department/Division/Committees, Medical Executive Committee
(MEC), Board Committees and the BOD.
Staff shall be notified of any new policies/procedures or significant revisions.
Education shall be provided as appropriate.
A hard copy of all current policies/procedures must be available in the department
for downtime.

D. PROCESS FOR ADMINISTRATIVE MANUAL(S) APPROVAL:

1. Approval Process
a. Content Expert
b. Administrative Policies and Procedures Committee (APP)
c. Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee (P&T), if contains medication, medication
administration or if standardized procedure
d. MEC, if relevant to medical staff activities and/or direct patient care
e. Appropriate Board Committee
f BOD
E. PROCESS FOR PATIENT CARE SERVICES (PCS) MANUAL APPROVAL:
1. A Approval Process
a. Content Expert
b. Clinical Policies and Procedures Committee (CPP)
c. Nurse Executive Committee (NEC)
d. Medical Staff/Department Division, if relevant to medical staff activities or direct
patient care
e. P&T, if contains medication, medication administration or if standardized
procedure
f. Interdisciplinary Practice Committee (IDPC), if a standardized procedure

104



| Administrative MarualPolicy- District Operations
Policy and Procedure Approval Process

Page 3 of 4
g. MEC, if relevant to medical staff activities and/or direct patient care
h. PAC
i. BOD

F. PROCESS FOR DEPARTMENT SPECIFIC MANAUL APPROVAL.:

1. Approval Process

a. Content Expert
b. Department Manager and/or Director
c. Medical Director for clinical areas with a Medical Director when appropriate
d. Medical Staff/Department Division, if relevant to medical staff activities or direct

patient care

e MEC, if relevant to medical staff activities and/or direct patient care

f. PAC

g. BOD

Each Department is responsible for maintaining their own department specific manual.

a Makes revisions in the electronic policy management system to
policies/procedures using tracked changes.

ab. Obtain Medical Director’s approval if applicable for policies/procedures related to
Medical Staff activities or direct patient care.

G. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
b:1. Policies and Procedures Review Grid

H. REFERENCE(S):
California Department of Public Health, Title 22 California Code of Regulations

1.
2. The Joint Commission Standards
3. California Children’s Services Standards
4, College of American Pathologists

105



Administrative ManualPolicy- District Operations
Policy and Procedure Approval Process

Page 4 of 4

Policies and Procedures Review Grid

Policies and . Review Regulation
Procedures Category Policy/Procedure Name Period Requirement
Nursing Policies All 3 Years | Title 22
Standardized California Board of
Procedures Al 2 Years Registered Nurses

. _ California Children
Neonatal Unit Policies All 2 Years Services (CCS)
- College of American
Laboratory Policies All 2 Years Pathologists (CAP)
. - Patient Care Services: Interpretation and Joint Commission
Interpretation Policies Translation Services Policy Annual (JC)
Engineering: Utility Management Plan
Environment of Care: Hazardous Material
and Waste Management and
Envir nt of Care Communication Plan Joint Commissi
Plar:sonme Environment of Care: Life Safety Annual ( J(':) mission
Management Plan
Environment of Care: Safety Plan
Environment of Care: Security Management
Plan
Pharmacy: Automatic Therapeutic TCHD Pharmacy
Interchange Annual | and Therapeutics
Pharmacy: Sterile Pharmacy: Black Box Warnings, Drugs with erap
. . Commiittee
Pharmaceuticals and | Policy
Hazardous Drugs United States
Pharmacy: Sterile Products Preparation Annual | Pharmacopeia
(USP) <797>,<800>
Infection Control: Aerosol Transmissible
Diseases and Tuberculosis Control Plan IC
1"
Infection Control Infection Control: Bloodborne Pathogen Annual

Exposure Control Plan

Infection Control

Infection Control: Risk Assessment and
Surveillance Plan

106



(C‘) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Behavioral Health Services
Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit
Crisis Stabilization Unit

SUBJECT: Abuse Reporting Forms

POLICY NUMBER: 700

ISSUE DATE: 03/08

REVISION DATE: 08/09, 06/10, 03/13

Department Approval: 03/17
Division of Psychiatry Approval: 06/17
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: 08/17

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A

PURPOSE:

1. To ensure that all forms related to reporting abuse are properly completed and filed.

POLICY:

1. When it becomes necessary to report dependent adult abuse or neglect, the clinician will follow
established hospital policy and will complete and file all relevant forms in a uniform and
consistent manner.

PROCEDURE:
1. Social Services:

a.

When calling either Child Protective Services (CPS) or Adult Protective Services (APS)
the name of the person contacted will be documented in the medical record.

b. The original form will be mailed/faxed to the agency. If the form is faxed, a fax
confirmation must be obtained.

c. A copy of the form along with the fax confirmation will be forwarded to Tri-City
Healthcare District’s (TCHDFCMC) Case Management/Social Service office.

d. No copies will be placed in the medical record.

2. Psychiatric Liaison Team:

a. As with Social Services, the Psychiatric Liaison filing a CPS or APS report will document
the name of the person contacted in the medical record.

b. The original form will be mailed/faxed to the agency. If the form is faxed, a fax
confirmation must be obtained.

c. A copy of the form along with the fax confirmation will be forwarded to the-BHU Nurse
educatorwho-will-ferward-itte-the TCHDTCMG Case Management/Social Service
office.

d. No copies will be placed in the medical record.

107



Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT MANUAL

SUBJECT: AHA: NON-TCHDTCMGC CLASS PARTICIPANTS

ISSUE DATE: 03/07

REVISION DATE(S): 04/10, 07/13
Department Approval: - 42/1603/17
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a
Professional Affairs Committee Approval:

Board of Directors Approval: 07/13

A PURPOSE:
1. To utilize Tri-City Healthcare District (TCHD)FSMGTCHD existing education resources (AHA
Instructors)
2. To practice fiscal responsibility and generate revenue.

B. DEFINITION(S):
1. Non-FGMCTCHD employee.

2. Basic Life Support Renewal (BLS), Advanced Cardiac Life Support (ACLS), and Pediatric
Advanced Life Support (PALS). Full , Renewal, and Skills courses.

C. POLICY:

1. The FEGMETCHD AHA Training Center (TC) coordinates the number and frequency of AHA
courses based on information provided by Human ResourcesRes-Q-database.

2. AHA scheduled courses not filled by FEGMETCHD employees will be made available to Non-
FEMETCHD employees in order to manage staffing and prevent cancellation of TC Instructors.
a. Courses will be made available to Non-FGMETCHD employees 1 (one) week prior to

BLS renewal course and one (1) week prior to ACLS courses.

3. Non-FGMCTCHD Employees must present a current AHA BLS/ACLS Provider and/or Instructor
card from an approved AHA Training Center that is current and in good standing with the AHA
guidelines and curriculum.

4, FSMCSTCHD TC will accept cards only from the American Heart Association's Healthcare
Provider Online Renewal course if it included a complete Part 1l skills check from an authorized
AHA Training Center.

5. FEMCTCHD TC will utilize the Course Card Reference Guide for surveillance of AHA provider

AHA:
2:6. When a scheduled course does not have a complete participant allotment or if an opening exists
due to cancellation of participants, FEGMETCHD will offer the course to a requesting Non-
Employee
a. The Non-FEMCTCHD employee will be notified within one week for BLS courses and
within 1 week for ACLS courses to allow for recommended course preparation

b. The Non-FEMGTCHD employee candidate will adhere to the AHA guidelines for course
preparation, utilizing the most current AHA course materials

c. The Non- FEMGTCHD employee confirms attendance and payment must be made in
full upon enrolling, payment may be made with cash, ercheck or credit card.

6-7. The costs for Non-Employee AHA course participation ((Attachment A) are as follows:

a. BLS provider (accelerated)rerewal- (not including BLS Provider Manual): $6050.00

108



Education Department-Relicy-Marual
AHA -Non-TCHDFGME Class Participants

Page 2 of 3

BLS provider full-course—- (not including BLS Provider Manual): $60.00

BLS skills - (not including BLS Provider Manual): $30.00

ACLS and PALS renewal- (not including ACLS Provider Manual): $150.00

ACLS and PALS full course- (not including ACLS Provider Manual): $200.00

ACLS and PALS Skills sessions - $60

8. AHA course — student manuals are required for all instructor-led events. Students must
have a manual before, during and after the course.

#9.  All costs will be refunded if course is canceled by FCMCTCHD AHA TC

8-10. Cancellation by the student less than 2 working days prior to the class are subject to $50
administrative fee.

8-11. No shows will forfeit 100% of course fees

THEET

| D. FORM(S):
1. AHA Class Price List
| E. REFERENCE(S)-LIST:
1. American Heart Association Program Administration Manual
F. APPROVAL AROCIESS
. Clinioal Policies. & Proced - i
2 Profossional Afairs O it
4 Beard-ei-Rireciors

109



J98US UONONIISUT SAI93a1 JSnl sasse|d §1g/STOV Joy dn Buiubis syjuspnis ||y

|enuepy sapnjauy| ,

110

JaueoT 00°00L$ 00°00L$ 00°05% }@8YS uononisu| yuid — |emausy JdNd
Jesysg
Jaueo 00'S.LS 00'GLLS 00°05$ UoRJNJISU| yuid — 8sinoY |Ind DdN3
Jesys
00°6e$ 00'00L$ 0oselLs 00°00L$ 00selL$ 00°05$ uonoNisu| usalo — [emauay Svd
e8ys
00°GE$ 00'6L1$ oooLes 00'SLLS 000Le$ 00°05% uoionlisul usal9 — asino |in4 Svd
00°05$ 00°05$ 00°00L$ 00°05$ 00°00L$ 00'62$ (pasayjo jJou s8sIN0) |IN4) [EMBUSY dHN
(+odedsmau ayj ui pe uno mes Aay)
J1 Sse|d 104 00°S€$) 193YS uooNnJsu|
00'Gl$ 00°05$ 00'99% pay — sse|D Aunwwo) a3y JorespyesH
}98ys uononysu|
00°0c$ 00'0¢L$ 00°051$ 00°06$ 00'02i$ 00°05% dapuaAeT] —- 8sIN0) [emausy SOV
esys
00°0€$ 00'S61$ 00'gecs 000LL$ 00°002% 00°05$ uondniisul uouljesg — 8sinoY |In4 SOV
00'8L$ 008L$ 00'8L$ 00'8L$ 00'8L$ Asy| auljuo sINS S19
00°0c$ 00°0¢$ 00°0€$ 00°62$ }98yg uononnysu| usalo) — s|iINS ST
00'GL$ 00°0v$ 00°¢5$ 00°0v$ 00'55% 00°'s¢$ }98yg uonponiisuj ue | — [emausy S
00'G1$ 00°05$ 00°69% 00°0s$ 00'G9% 00'62$ }98YS uonodnysu] anjg — 8sino |ind4 s1gd
jenuepy [enuepy
o/M o/M popunjoy
Auo JJNDL JNOL slsjanel | slojonel] / saafojdwig SSE|D JO aweN
sjenuey -UON -UoN /SAN He1s SAN #e1s ONJOL

'Sosse|2 §g 40} punjal
© 3A19981 seafojdwa Jajua Ssau||aM “[enuUBW 10} | PUE SSBID 10§ | — palinbai aie s)diasal g ‘sasse|d 40 1502 ayy seakojdwa [[e Spunyas HNDL SV

1SI171 3014dd SSV10 VHY
1S17 301¥d SSV19 VHV |
€ Jo ¢ abed

sjuedidiped sse|) SNSLAHIL-UON- YHY
{enuep-Asiiea-juawpedag uoyeonpy



2
‘C‘? Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT-MANUAL

SUBJECT: DESCRIPTION OF PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION DEPARTMENT
ISSUE DATE: 03/03
REVISION DATE(S): 07/05, 08/07, 04/10, 07/13
Department Approval: 03/17
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a
Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval: 8/07;-4/10+-7/13
| A POLICY:

Scope of Services:

a. The Education Department's scope of services provided to the organization consists of
employee orientation, in-service education, continuing education, leadership and
organizational development, project facilitation.

Operational Initiatives:

a. The Education Department’s operational initiatives are developed each year based on
the organization’s hospital wide operational plan.
b. Quarterly, the operation plan is updated regarding status and accomplishments and

reported by the Director of Education, ard-Clinical Informatics and Staffinges to the
Chief Nurse Executive (CNE).

Physical Location:

a. The Education Department offices are located on the lower level of the Pavilion below
the main lobby area. The classrooms are adjacent to the offices. The Medical Staff
Library is located on 1North.

b. Storage of the Education Department’s equipment and supplies are located in closets in
the Assembly Rooms.

c. Archived education files are indexed and stored off site if older than 1 year.

Hours of Operation:

a. The hours of the Education Department are 7:30 am - 4:00 pm, Monday through Friday
with the exception of organization-defined holidays and by appointment.

b. The Computer Labs in classroom 4 and classroom 8 can be accessed from 7:30 am -
4.00 pm.

&i. The computer room in classroom 4 is available afterhours for completion of net
learning modules by contacting Tri-City Healthcare District (TCHDMG) Security
at 760-940-3367.

111



‘C‘» Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California

I EDUCATION DEPARTMENT-MANUAL

SUBJECT: IN-SERVICE EDUCATION

ISSUE DATE: 06/03
REVISION DATE(S): 08/07, 04/10, 07/13

| Department Approval: 03/17
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a
Professional Affairs Committee Approval:

Board of Directors Approval: 07/13

| A. POLICY:

1. In-service education consists of those activities that assist personnel to fulfill assigned
responsibilities specific to the performance standards of the work units. These activities are
conducted internal to the facility and are directed at current standards.

2. The aim of inservice is to maintain competency (in relation to existing standards); create new
competency (in relation to newly developed standards); respond to Performance Improvement
findings (convert non-compliance to compliance); and introduce/review equipment.

3. Inservice for new products and equipment is initiated by the Clinical Value Analysis Committee
whose membership includes an Education staff member.

4, The company vendor/representative contacts the Education Department to plan the most
effective means of inservice training.

5. Leadership and Management may request inservice education to meet the individual practice

needs of the work unit by contacting the education staff.

112



(C‘) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT POLICY-MANUAL

SUBJECT: MISSION AND VISION OF THE EDUCATION DEPARTMENT

ISSUE DATE: 03/03
REVISION DATE(S): 07/05, 08/07, 04/10, 03/12, 07/13

Department Approval: 03/17
Medical Executive Approval: n/a
Professional Affairs Approval:

Board of Directors Approval: 07/13

A. MISSION STATEMENT:
1. To provide innovative educational experiences that advance the knowledge and skills of all Tri-
City Medical-CenterHealthcare District (TCHDMG) employees to promote excellence.

B. VISION STATEMENT
1. Create an environment to support evidence based practices by delivering education through
progressive learning modalities.

C. PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION DEPARTMENT:

Mentors and supports lifelong learning

Promotes research and evidence-based practice

Integrates technological advances into practice

Facilitates Multi-disciplinary collaborations

Acts as resource to community

Serves as academic liaisons

Develops professional practice

Facilitates Interdisciplinary in-house/community education

Provides:

a. Initial and ongoing assessment of staff skills, knowledge, behaviors and ability to provide
patient care

Continuing Education (CE) classes/programs

Certification, orientation, computer training

Annual competencies/Skills Validationkab

Proactive mandatory training/Netlearning

CE/Tuition reimbursement

Standards for basic competency/training

Direct clinical research support staff through Information Specialist
Supports disease specific care certification and maintarersemaintenance programs
10. Assnsts organization in meeting regulatory standards

CoNorwN A

~Ta@meaonyo

113



(C‘) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

MEDICAL STAFF-RPOLICY-MANUAL

ISSUE DATE: 10/04

REVISION DATE(S): 04/08, 08/12

SUBJECT: Election Process of Member(s)
at Large for the Medical Executive
Committee

POLICY NUMBER: 8710 - 531

Department Approval: 03M707/117
Medical Staff Committee Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: 034708/17
Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 04/17
Board of Directors Approval: 04/17
A. PURPOSE:
1. To provide direction for the nomination and election process for the Member(s) at Large position

on the Medical Executive Committee.

B. PROCEDURE:

1. Ali Active Medical Staff members of may submit their names to the Medical Staff Office two
months prior to the June General Staff Meeting.

2. Interested Active Medical Staff members are required to complete a Conflict of Interest form
before being added to the ballot.

3. Candidates will be provided the opportunity to speak at the General Staff Meeting.

4, Voting will be by ballot.

5. A quorum of voting members is required to elect Members-at-Large.

6. Each voting member will be allotted two votes. A member may vote twice for any one candidate
or vote once for any two candidates or withhold one or both votes.

7. For a Member-at-Large to be elected, the candidate must be the candidate receiving the most
votes. If there are two vacancies being elected, then the candidates receiving the highest and
second highest number of votes cast will win.

a. If one or both of the available Member-at-Large Medical Executive seats are not filled,
the seat(s) will remain vacant.

8. Vacant seat(s) after original appointment on the Medical Executive Committee shall remain
vacant until the next June General Medical Staff Meeting.

9. Members-at-Large will serve a ene-two year term and no member shall serve more than two

successive terms.

114



(C‘) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Outpatient Behavioral Health Services

SUBJECT: Admission to Inpatient Behavioral Health Unit

ISSUE DATE:  08/96
REVISION DATE(S): 05/98, 08/00, 10/01, 02/02, 02/03, 01/05, 06/07, 06/10, 04/13

Department Approval: 12/16
Division of Psychiatry Approval: 06/17
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a

Medical Executive Committee Approval: 07/17

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

| A. PURPOSE:
1. To define appropriate methods for admitting a patient to an inpatient psychiatric unit.

| B. POLICY:
1. When a patient is in need of inpatient treatment, the program staff and attending physician will
arrange the admission.

| C. PROCEDURE:
1. Who may perform/responsible: Clinical and Nursing Staff
a. The treatment team, to include the Clinical Coordinator, Operations Manager and
Registered Nurse (RN) whenever possible, meets to triage the patient and determine
the need for inpatient admission.

b. The clinical staff contacts the attending psychiatrist to inform him/her of the current
situation and the staff's assessment of the patient and recommendations for admission.
C. If the attending psychiatrist concurs that admission is necessary, s/he makes the

recommendation as to whether a direct admission or Emergency Department (ED)
admission must occur. If a direct admission is recommended, the attending psychiatrist,
or designee contacts the on-call physician to make the recommendation and
communicate information obtained in the clinical assessment. If an ED admission is
recommended, the clinical staff contacts the psychiatric liaison to inform them regarding
the potential admission. Once the patient is medically cleared in the ED, they may
be transferred to the crisis stabilization unit for evaluation and treatment or
admitted to inpatient behavioral health unit.

d. If the patient refuses hospitalization, the attending program psychiatrist makes a
determination as to whether a hold is necessary.
e. The staff will be responsible for arranging for transport of the patient and obtaining

consents from the patient/conservator, as needed. Depending on level of risk, a patient
may need to be accompanied by staff on program van or be transported via ambulance.

f. Staff will use the Situation, Background, Assessment, Recommendation (SBAR) process
to conduct hand off communication with the intake coordinator, psychiatric liaison, shift
Supervisor, MD, police department, or ambulance.

g. The program staff will notify the patient’s family or significant others of the transfer, in
accordance with the patient’s wishes. If appropriate, the patient’s insurance reviewer is
contacted and informed regarding the inpatient admission.

h. Patient information/records will be sent at the time of transfer. These records will include
diagnosis, pertinent financial/administrative information, current medical findings, current
medications and a brief summary of the course of treatment. Program nurse and clinical
staff will ensure accuracy of medication reconciliation and hand off communication.

115



(C‘) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Outpatient Behavioral Health Services

SUBJECT: Age Appropriate Care

ISSUE DATE:  08/96
REVISION DATE(S): 05/98, 08/00, 10/01, 02/02, 02/03, 01/05, 06/07, 06/10, 04/13

Department Approval: 12/16
Division of Psychiatry Approval: 06/17
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a

Medical Executive Committee Approval: 07/17

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE
1. To provide guidelines to meet the age specific care needs of the patient and educate their
caregiver and/or family.

B. POLICY

1. OPBHS serves adults 18 and older. Efforts must be made to individualize the program to
meet the specific needs of individuals and address age-related issues. Older adults may
attend specialized groups to address issues related to their specific age group, such as
aging and grief and loss issues. Likewise, young adults may be scheduled for groups
with individuals of similar age to address issues that may arise for their age group, such
as academic or job-related concerns. All employees shall demonstrate the skills and
knowledge required to provide care appropriate to the age of the patients served.
Caregiver/family shall be involved in treatment to meet the age specific needs of the patient.

C. PROCEDURE
1. Who may perform/responsible: Outpatient Behavioral Health Services BHOS-(OPBHS) staff

a. Educational information including the principles of growth and development will be
provided during orientation.

b. The knowledge and skills necessary for providing age specific care will be reviewed
annually.

c. Knowledge, skill base, and ability to provide care appropriate to the age of the patient
will be evaluated during orientation and at each annual performance review.

d. Employees will include family/caregiver, as appropriate, in meeting age specific needs of
the patient.

e. Treatment approaches will be modified to meet the age specific physiological,
psychological, educational and social needs of the patient.

f. Medications will be prescribed in age appropriate medication dosages; therapeutic

ranges can be obtained from the pharmacy and laboratory department as needed.

116



‘ ) Tri-City Medical Center DELETE: Department
Oceanside, California guideline, does not

need to be a policy.

Outpatient Behavioral Health Services

SUBJECT: Communications

ISSUE DATE:  08/96
REVISION DATE(S): 05/98, 08/00, 10/01, 02/02, 02/03, 01/05, 06/07, 06/10, 04/13

Department Approval: 12/16
Division of Psychiatry Approval: 06/17
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval n/a

Medical Executive Committee Approval: 07/17

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

117



)
(c\) Tri-City Medical Center

Delete:
Oceanside, California elete: Department

guideline, does not

Outpatient Behavioral Health Services

need to be a policy.

SUBJECT: Solicitation of Patients / Referrals to Self

ISSUE DATE:  08/96
REVISION DATE(S): 05/98, 08/00, 10/01, 02/02, 02/03, 01/05, 06/07, 06/10, 04/13

Department Approval: 12/16
Division of Psychiatry Approval: 06/17
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a

Medical Executive Committee Approval: 07/17

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

118



(c\) Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California

Outpatient Behavioral Health Services

SUBJECT: Substance Abuse

ISSUE DATE: 08/96

REVISION DATE(S): 05/98, 08/00, 10/01, 02/02, 02/03, 01/05, 06/07, 06/10, 04/13
Department Approval: 12/16

Division of Psychiatry Approval: 06/17

Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a

Medical Executive Committee Approval: 07/117

Professional Affairs Committee Approval
Board of Directors Approval:

B-A. POLICY:

GB.

1.

Patients with secendary-comorbid substance abuse problems or dual diagnosis may be treated
in the-ProgramOPBHS if they agree to abide-byadhere to RrogramOPBHS rules-guidelines
and if they agree to accept treatment for their substance useabuse problem.

Patients are not permitted to attend the-RrogramOPBHS under the influence of alcohol,

marijuana or streetiillicit drugs or to bring those substances to the-RProgramOPBHS.

Substance abuse is also defined as "taking-excessive-ameunts-ofmisuse of prescribed

medications".

a. An individual under influence can include individuals that use alcohol, marijuana,
illicit drugs or misuse prescribed medications the day they are in the program or
the night before.

b. Behaviors that may indicate an individual is under the influence include, someone
behaving differently than usual, erratic, with an altered state of consciousness,
unpredictable behavior, agitation, excessive sedation, slurred speech, dilated
eyes, impaired gait, etc.

If the patient’s substance abuse-use problem becomes so severe that it endangers the patient’s

safety, interferes with psychiatric treatment, or prevents the patient from benefiting from

treatment, a referral to a higher level of care or a substance abuse program may be made.

PROCEDURE:

1.

1:2.

3-5.

Who may perform/responsible: OPBHS Clinical and Nursing Staff

If substance abuse is detected by pregramOPBHS staff during prograrOPBHS time, the
patient will be dismissed for the day. The patient’s physician/Allied Health Professional (AHP)
will be immediately notified.

If the patient may be medically endangered by his substance abuse, the physician/AHP will be
notified before the patient is dismissed in order to determine the best approach to take and to
assess the need for immediate medical treatment.

With collaboration with physicians/Allied Health Professionals, OPBHS staff will
determine a safe plan to transport the individual home and to ensure that the individual
does not drive under the influence.

At the time of dismissal, the patient will be reminded that he/she must meet with the Therapist or
treatment team before he/she may continue in the ProgramOPBHS. If the patient does not call
back within 24 hours, the Therapist will contact the patient to schedule the meeting. The
meeting will include consideration of the patient’s possible need for substance abuse treatment,

119



| BehavieralHealth-Outpatient Behavioral Health Services

Substance Abuse

Page 2 of 2

4-6.

&-7.

6-8.
£9.

within or independent of the ProgramOPBHS.

If the individual continues in treatment, a contract for continuing participation in the Dual
Diagnosis component of the program will-may be developed. The contract may address various
issues, such as substance abuse abstinence, participation in dual diagnosis groups, 12-step
meeting attendance, avoidance of high risk places or things, etc.

Repeated violations of PregramOPBHS rules concerning substance abuse may result in the
patient’s discharge from the ProgramOPBHS.

The incident is documented in the patient’s record along with a description of the action taken.
Patients are referred to a higher level of care or substance use treatment if they are determined
to meet one or more exclusionary criteria, which include:

T @moaouUp

Lack of interest in being clean or sober and refusal to reduce substance use

Daily excessive drinking or signs of withdrawal and increased tolerance

More than one occasion of coming to pregramOPBHS under the influence

Multiple relapses and refusal to take steps to improve chance of success

Inability to reduce use

Multiple episodes of dishonesty regarding use

High risk of suicide, violence, medical issues, homicide, or severe exacerbation of
symptoms associated with use.

Extent of prescription use leads to high risk of self harm

Refusal to communicate with other prescribing physicians/AHPsMDs, or primary care
physician (PCP), or family/caregivers combined with severe risk of self harm
Continued use of multiple pharmacies, Emergency Departments (EDs), and
physicians/AHPs and refusal to change this high risk behavior

Poses a risk to milieu by influencing other patient to use substances

The team, including the physician, determines that patient has a current primary issue
with substance use and can benefit from substance use treatment.

120



)
‘c‘» Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

Outpatient Behavioral Health Services

SUBJECT: Suicide Assessment

ISSUE DATE:  08/96
REVISION DATE(S): 05/98, 08/00, 10/01, 02/02, 02/03, 01/05, 06/07, 06/10, 04/13

Department Approval: 12/16
Division of Psychiatry Approval: 06/17
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a

Medical Executive Committee Approval: 07117

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

A. PURPOSE:

1. To define the course of action necessary when a patient expresses suicidal ideation.
B. POLICY:
1. Acutely suicidal patients are not appropriate for Outpatient Behavioral Health Services (OPBHS)

and need to be evaluated for inpatient treatment. If a patient is admitted for inpatient care,
programOPBHS staff will follow the patient's progress and assist in assessing the patient's
readiness to return to the-PregramOPBHS. Patients reporting suicidal ideation will be assessed
for level of risk and appropriate interventions will be conducted accordingly.

C. PROCEDURE:

1. —Who may perform/responsible: OPBHS Clinical Staff.

3:2. All new patients will undergo an evidence-based suiside-suicide risk assessment, such as
the Columbia-Suicide Severity Rating Scale (C-SSRS). The assessment is -atcompleted at
intake thatiscompleted-by the admitting-RNClinical staff.

2:3. If a patient is assessed to be at moderate or high risk for suicide, then the RN-staff notifies the
physician/Allied Health Professional (AHP) ard-therapist-in order to evaluate appropriate level
of care needed for the patient.

3-4. If MB-physician/AHP determines that the patient can safely remain in programOPBHS, RN
willstaff will provide the patient with information on how to access emergency crisis services
and will develop a safety plan.

4:5. The therapist will establish a treatment goal specifically addressing safety for those patients that
score moderate to high on the suicide assessment.

6:6. If, during the course of treatment, the programOPBHS staff member becomes aware of a
patient's suicidal intentions or actions, he/she becomes responsible for initiating a course of
action. That person, or designee, must take necessary precautions to ensure patient’s safety.

7. Assessment will be immediately initiated to determine the risk of the suicidal intent or action.
6-a. {Some of the factors to consider are: whether the patient has a specific plan to make an

attempt, whether the patient is now experiencing circumstances that would enhance the
likelihood of the attempt, etc.)-

%8. The staff member who discovers the situation will initiate-a-plan-of-action-after-informing the
physician, Clinical Coordinator, and the Operations Manager.

89. An action plan is initiated based on the assessment of acuity.

a. If a suicide attempt has already been made, the patient is to be transferred immediately
to Tri-City Healthcare District’s (TCHD)Medisal-Center emergency room by
ambulance. A staff member will be designated to notify the patient's physician/AHP and
family member or significant other.

121



Outpatient Behavioral Health Services

Suicide Assessment
Page 2 of 2
b.
C.
d.

If a suicide attempt has not been made, but the threat is considered to be imminent, the
patient's physician/AHP is to be contacted immediately to give direction concerning the
patient's disposition. If the patient's attending physician/AHP is not available, the Medical
Director will be contacted.

Patients that are identified at risk will be closely monitored until they are transported
safely for inpatient treatment.

Patients that are on close watch will be asked to voluntary give staff their belongings in
case they possess any contraband items and to protect their safety.

If the threat of suicide is determined not to be imminent, the staffmemberwill-notify
otherstaff-and-the-Operations-Managertreatment team will be notified to heighten
awareness to possible future suicidal intentrisk and also to plan further treatment
interventions. A written safety plan will be developed by the patient and the
theraplst to help ldentlfy warnmg sngns, coplng strategles, and emergency

mple ; maln-safes If appropnate the
patlent s famlly/support system/Board and Care Manager should be contacted to monitor
for safety.

9——Document in the patient's ehart-medical record the patient's statements and actions, the
assessment process the dlsposmon of the patlent and staff mterventnons tf—the—patlent—is-te

10.

11.

The patient's Theraplst will dISCUSS all verbalizations of sunmdal ideation wnth the patlent'
attending psychiatrist and the treatment team in order to develop appropriate treatment
interventions.

theThe ProegramOPBHS staff will contact the inpatient treatment team, should the patient be
hospitalized, to insure continuity of care and to conduct hand-off communication.

D. RELATED -RESOURCESDOCUMENT(S):
Outpatient Behavioral Health: Psychiatric Emergencies

1.

E. REFERENCES:

The Columbia Suicide Severity Rating Scale (C-SSRS) Supporting Evidence (2017)
The Joint Commission Source Newsletter (2016)

42.3. The Joint Commission National Patient Safety Goals (2017)

1.
2.

122



)
@‘9 Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

OUTPATIENT INFUSION CENTER —OCEANSIDE-ROLICY MANUAL

ISSUE DATE: 032/13 SUBJECT: ADVERSE REACTION
(MEDICATION EVENT)

REVISION DATE: 03/13

Department Approval: 06/16
MEERIC AL B SR AR ER R M3
BlRECORARPROVAL— 393
Division of Oncology Approval: 03/17
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: 07/17
Medical Executive Committee Approval: 08/17
Professional Affairs Committee Approval:

Board of Directors Approval: 03/13

A. PURPOSE:
1. Patient medication events including adverse reactions must be reported appropriately and acted
upon in a timely manner. This policy defines the procedure to be followed by the @ROutpatient
Infusion Center (Center) when a medication error/reaction/event occurs.

B. POLICY:

1. The Center will adhere to the hospitals pharmacy policy(s) related to medication events/adverse
reaction and utilize appropriate hospital reporting forms.

2. All adverse drug reactions/medication events will be reported immediately and will include
notification of the practitioner who ordered the drug, as well as the patient/family.

3. Appropriate documentation will be recorded in the medical record.

4. The pharmacy will report serious adverse drug reactions to the Food and Drug Administration
as required.

C. PROCEDURE:
1. The nurse shall:

a. Notify the attending and/or onsite physician of the medication event/reaction

ab. If the interventions ordered by the attending and/or onsite provider fails when
patient is having anaphylactic symptoms, the nurse or designee will call 911 for
emergency services.
Notify the patient/family of the incident.
Complete the appropriate form to the pharmacy immediately.
Document the event/reaction, the orders received, and the effect/condition of the patient
in the patient's medical record.

D. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):
d-1. Administrative Policy: Incident Report—Quality Review Report (QRR) RL Solutions 396

gt



2
(c‘) Tri-City Medical Center

Distribution:

Outpatient Infusion Center

PROGEDURE: GENTRALVENOUSAGCGESS DEVGESABULTS

B : T Hinofl A TN
Lo—lnsertion

DELETE - follows Patient Care
Services Procedure: Central Venous
Access Devices, Adults

Department Review Division of Oncology ?rmznr:::xt?:: Medéz:::‘g)i(tetzztive me%s:::‘?é::a"s Board of Directors
03/13, 01/17 03/17 07117 03/13, 08/17 03/13 03/13

124



QOutpatient Infusion Center Manual
Central Venous Access Devices
Page 2 of 11

125



Outpatient Infusion Center Manual
Central Venous Access Devices
Page 3 of 11

126



Qutpatient Infusion Center Manual
Central Venous Access Devices
Page 4 of 11

127



Outpatient Infusion Center Manual
Central Venous Access Devices
Page 5 of 11

128



Outpatient Infusion Center Manual
Central Venous Access Devices
Page 6 of 11

129



Outpatient Infusion Center Manual
Central Venous Access Devices
Page 7 of 11

130



Outpatient Infusion Center Manual
Central Venous Access Devices
Page 8 of 11

Ghle#texidh#glueen&e—(—@hlelrawep) B—Yes—H Ne
Betadine S—lee—— - hle
Alechel H—Yes——H-Ne

Was-skin-agentcompletely-dry at the time-of first puncture25—Yes— - No
130-secondsfordrysite

s3p i et st site{ il § 1
Insertion-Siter-BH—PICC Upperextremity —3—PICC Lower-extremity—H—Jugular

B—Subclavian H—Femeoral—— - Other
Type-eleatheten—S—RICC =
B—Tunrneled-Catheter——Dialysi

B--Dialsis-Catheternon-tvnneled H—lesarlar Cothalertunncled
BE—Cther

H—Yes—H—Ne— 5 hN/A
EH—Yes—H-—No - NA

131



Outpatient Infusion Center Manual
Central Venous Access Devices
Page 9 of 11

132



Outpatient Infusion Center Manual
Central Venous Access Devices

Page 10 of 11
Cenbtreline-Supel- et —Attachment B
] T T Contral Lines fon ki

133



Outpatient Infusion Center Manual
Central Venous Access Devices
fa

Page 11 of 11

FRE EELSE-SOLUTION FREQUENGY | COMMENTS
Gentral-Lines Mermalcalinsd Dk QBhrs 4—Use proximal-portas+ choice for-drawing

134



‘C‘? Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California .

| OUTPATIENT INFUSION CENTER —~OCEANSIDE-ROLICY-MANUAL

| ISSUE DATE: 032/13 SUBJECT: HOSPITAL ADMISSION FROM THE
CENTER

| REVISION DATE: 03/13

Department Approval: 06/16

MERICAHDERARTIMENT- )

PIRECTOR-ARPEROMAL: i3

Division of Oncology Approval: 03/17

i = o7

Medical Executive Committee Approval: 08/17

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:

Board of Directors Approval: 03/13

A PURPOSE:
1. This policy delineates the procedure for an unplanned admission to the hospital directly from the
Outpatient Infusion Center (Center).

B. POLICY:
| 1. Patient admissions to Tri-City Healthcare District (TCHD)the-hespital from the Center will be
done in a safe and efficient manner. The Center Medical Director will discuss the
recommendation to admit the patient with the patient/family and the patient's primary
physician/Allied Health Professional (AHP).

C. PROCEDURE:
1. Upon evaluation by the Center Medical Director, if admission is deemed necessary, orders for
admission will be generated.
| a. The Center Medical Director will contact the patient's primary-physician/AHP to discuss
his/her recommendation to admit the patient (if the patient is not triaged to the

Emergency Room).

b. If the primary-physician/AHP concurs, the patient will be admitted under the care of the
prirmary-physician/AHP.

c. The admitting department/nurse will be notified immediately by the support
staff/receptionist about the pending admission.

d. A copy of pertinent medical, demographic and treatment information will be provided.

| e. The Registered Nurse (RN)/case manager will provide a verbal report to the unit nurse

to ensure continuity of care.

f. The RN/case manager will act as liaison between the hospital and the family and answer
any questions that might arise about the unplanned admission.

g. If the patient is not accompanied by family or significant other, the RN/case manager will
make the appropriate notifications.

h. If the patient is a resident of an extended care facility, the RN/case manager will notify

the director of nursing or designee about the pending admission.

i. The surgeon and/or the surgeon’s office will schedule any surgical procedures planned
during the hospital admission.

j The patient will be kept in the Center and closely monitored until notified by the hospital
admitting department or designated nursing unit. After clinic hours, the nursing
supervisor will provide instructions for patient disposition.

135



Wemen's-&-Children's-Services-Relicy-Manual-NIGUOutpatient Infusion Center

Adrrission-&Discharge-Griteria-forthe-NICUHospital Admission from the Center
Page 2 of 2

k. The RN/case manager will coordinate the transfer of the patient to the designated
nursing unit with a member of the Center staff and transport personnel, until the
designated nursing unit officially receives the patient.

l If the patient is unstable and cannot be admitted immediately to an acute care bed, the
patient will be transferred to the ER after the ER has been notified.

136



2 L . . p s, . .
(c\) Tri-City Me dical Center Distribution: Outpatient Infusion

Department Review | Division of Oncology '?I'I;:rrr:::xt?:sd Medci:zar:‘ixi;gztwe Prof%s::’:?:t:\effalrs Board of Directors
03/13 03/17 07/17 03/13, 08/17 03/13

137



2
(C‘» Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

OUTPATIENT INFUSION CENTER—OCEANSIDE-ROLICY-MANUAL

| ISSUE DATE:

03/13 SUBJECT: PATIENT DISCHARGE

REVISION DATE: 03/13

Department Approval: 06/16
MERICALDERARTRIENT: 3443
DR EC oA P A0, M2
Division of Oncology Approval: 03/17
i kL O
Medical Executive Committee Approval: 08/17
Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval: 03/13
A. PURPOSE:

1.

To establish the requirements for patient discharge from the Outpatient Infusion Center
(Center).

POLICY:

1.

All trfusien-Center patients will be assessed prior to discharge and results documented in the
patient’s medical record.

GENERAL GUIDELINES:

1.

Patients will be discharged from the Irfusien-Center when the following criteria are met:

a. Stable vital signs.

b. Free from signs and symptoms of adverse reactions including severe nausea/vomiting.
Patients should have adequate muscular strength, endurance, functional capacity and body
composition for activities of daily living and occupational needs, or have assistance for these
activities at home.

Patients should have satisfactory understanding of the following:

a. Basic pathophysiology of their disease and treatment.
b. Medication information including possible adverse effects.
c. Contact information for the Center and for treating physician.

Patients will be given printed discharge instructions.
A discharge summary will be sent to the referring physician/Allied Health Professional upon
completion of treatment.

138



‘C‘) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

OUTPATIENT INFUSION CENTER-POLICY-MANUAL

ISSUE DATE: 032/13 SUBJECT: PHYSICIAN ORDERS / REQUEST
FOR SERVICES ORDERS

REVISION DATE: 03/13

Department Approval: 06/16
MELICALAD 2R A= 23
DIRECTORARRRO AL 313
Division of Oncology Approval: 03/17
i = LA
Medical Executive Committee Approval: 08/17
Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval: 03/13

A PURPOSE:
1. This policy defines the circumstances in which a physician/Allied Health professional orders or
requests for services to the Outpatient Infusion Center (Center)Glinic.

B. POLICY:

1. Only physicians/AHPshealtheare-professionals granted hospital medical staff privileges may
provide written, telephone or verbal orders for patients being seen at the CenterGlinie.

2. The clinical staff will take orders only from the CenterGlinis physician/AHP.

3. Any treatment/procedure may not be performed without the physician’s/AHP’s written, verbal or
telephone instruction unless defined by policy and/or falls within the scope of nursing practice, as
mandated by the State of California.

4, Orders for patients not being seen by the physicians/AHPs at the CenterGClinic may not be
accepted or implemented by the clinical staff.

5. Hospital policy will be followed when implementing physician's/AHP’s orders.

C. PROCEDURE:
1. When the physician/AHP is on site, orders will be written and signed by the physician/AHP after
each clinic visit.
2. Verbal orders may be taken by the licensed clinical staff at the direction of the Centerclinic
physician/AHP caring for the patient in an emergent situation only.
3. All physician/AHP orders will be reviewed reted by a registered nurse according to Tri-City
Healthcare District (TCHD)hospital policy.

139



Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California

PHARMACY-MANUAL
ISSUE DATE: 09/11 SUBJECT: Transdermal Fentanyl Patch
Prescribing and Use
REVISION DATE: 03/15 POLICY NUMBER: 8390-6020
Departmental Approval: 08/45807/17
Pharmacy & Therapeutics Committee Approval: 40/11,-05/1507/17
Medical Executive Committee Approval: 114/14,-07/1508/17
Professional Affairs Committee Approval: 08/15
Board of Directors Approval: 08/15

A. PURPOSE:
1. To provide a guideline summarizing safe use practices to reduce the preventable harm to
patients in the hospital setting.

B. POLICY:

1. Due to the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) black box warning, this policy and procedure
restricts prescribing to opioid-tolerant patients for the management of persistent, moderate to
severe chronic pain that requires continuous, around the clock opioid administration for an
extended period of time AND cannot be managed by other means such as nonsteroidal anti-
inflammatory drugs, opioid combination products, or immediate-release opioids. Fentanyl patch
use in non-opioid tolerant patients has resulted in fatal respiratory depression.

2. Fentanyl patches are not to be used to treat sudden, occasional or mild pain, or pain after
surgery.
3. Fentanyl patches should not be prescribed for opioid naive patients receiving comfort care

measures or end of life management Patients must meet the Tri-City Medical Center Criteria for
use of Fentanyl Transdermal System (see appendix Il) and follow dosing guidelines in order to
receive fentanyl patches.

C. PROCEDURE:

1. Prescribing:
a. Upon receiving an order for fentanyl patches the pharmacist shall evaluate the foIIowmg
i. Determine if patient is continuing therapy for chronic pain.
ii. Determine if the patient is opioid tolerant, defined as:
1) Taking oral morphine 60 mg/day or oral hydromorphone 8 mg/day or oral
oxycodone 30 mg/day OR (another opioid at a dose comparable to a
fentanyl patch see appendix I) for 7 days or longer.
iii. Determine if the patient has any absolute contraindications for use:
1) Patients who are not opioid tolerant as defined above.
2) Management of postoperative pain.
3) Management of mild pain or intermittent pain.
4) Management of acute pain or if opioid analgesia is only needed for a
short period of time (less than 7 days).
iv. Determine if the patient has any relative contraindications for use:
1) Concomitant use with ketoconazole, erythromycin, nefazodone, diltiazem

or grapefruit juice requires careful monitoring and may require adjustment
in fentanyl dosage.

140



Pharmacy-Manual

Transdemmal Fentanyl Patch Prescribing and Use

Page 2 of 3

2.

2) Transdermal fentanyl may not be appropriate for patients with fever,
diaphoresis, cachexia, morbid obesity, and ascites, all of which may have
a significant impact on the absorption, blood levels, and clinical effects of

the drug.
b. Pharmacist will then verify the following and if necessary, change dose of fentanyl patch
based on Fentanyl Dose Conversion Guideline:

i. Fentanyl patch is prescribed at the lowest dose needed for pain relief.

ii. First-time doses (new starts) should not exceed 25mcg/hr unless recommended
by pain specialist or approved by Clinical Manager. Fentanyl patch 12 mcg/hr
should be considered for elderly or frail patients.

iii. Consider concomitant opiates and other medications known to have additive
CNS or respiratory depression effects in evaluating the appropriateness of the
dose.

1) Discontinue or taper all other around-the-clock or extended release
opioids when initiating therapy with fentanyl transdermal patch.

iv. In selecting an initial dose, attention should be given to the following:

1) Daily dose, potency, and characteristics of the opiate the patient has
been taking previously.

2) Reliability of dose conversion guidelines to predict the potency of the
fentanyl dose needed.

3) Patient’'s medical status.

4) To account for incomplete cross-tolerance, a 25% dose reduction is
needed when switching among opiates in patients whose pain is well
controlled. No reduction is necessary in patients with poorly controlled
chronic pain. For patients who have acute pain but whose chronic pain is
otherwise controlled, a 25% dose reduction is still needed.

V. Frequencies of q48h are generally not recommended.

1) Frequencies of Q48h may be appropriate for a small number of adult
patients and may be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. Such
frequencies will not be allowed for new starts unless approved by the
Clinical Manager.

vi. During dose titration, increasing dosages shall not be made prior to 72 hours

after initiation of therapy, and not prior to 6 days after dose changes.

1) Titrate dose based on the daily dose of supplemental opioids required by
the patient on the second or third day of the initial application.

2) Dose should be increased in 25 mcg increments. Larger increments may
be considered for some patients on high doses if prescribed and followed
by pain specialist.

3) Dose increases are not appropriate for patients who have acute pain but
whose chronic pain is otherwise controlled. Such pain should be
managed by appropriate use of breakthrough analgesia.

vii. When discontinuing transdermal fentanyl and not converting to another opioid,
use a gradual downward titration, such as decreasing the dose by 50% every 6
days to reduce risk of withdrawal symptoms.

1) For disposal of fentanyl patches see Patient Care Services Controlled
Substances Management Policy.

c. The pharmacist reviewing the order will document the following:

i Verification of inclusion criteria.

ii. Initial dose and date/time of initiation.

iii. Validation of inpatient and outpatient drug dosing history (including last refill
information).

iv. Any potential drug interactions.

V. Discussions with prescriber, if any.

Dispensing and Labeling:

141



Pharmacy-Manual
Transdermal Fentanyl Patch Prescribing and Use

Page 3 of 3
a. Fentanyl patches will been set up as a patient specific medication.
b. Do not cut patch warning will be placed in MAR notes.
c. Tall man lettering will be used fentanyl.

3. Monitoring:
a. Patient monitoring for opioid related side effects will be performed by nursing
staff as per the Pain Management Patient Care Services Policy.

D. RELATED DOCUMENT(S):

1. Fentanyl (Duragesic) Dose Conversion Guidelines
2. Tri-City Medical Center Criteria for Use of Fentanyl Transdermal System
3. Patient Care Services Controlled Substances Management Policy
E. REFERENCE(S):
1. ISMP Medication Safety Alert! Community/Ambulatory Care Edition. Volume 13, Issue 3. March
2014

2, Acute Care ISMP Medication Safety Alert! Ongoing, Preventable Fatal Events with Fentanyl
Transdermal Patches are Alarming! June 28, 2007.

3. CHA Medication Safety Committee High Alert Medication Guideline- Fentanyl Transdermal
Patch. April 2011.

4, Grissinger, Matthew. Inappropriate Prescribing of Fentanyl Patches is Still Causing

5. Alarming Safety Problems. Pharmacy and Therapeutics. 2010; 35(12): 653-654.

6. Lexicomp, Inc. (Lexi-DrugsTM). Lexicomp. Aprit-2ZJuly 5, 20175.

142



Tri-City Medical Center
Oceanside, California

PULMONARY SERVICES
ISSUE DATE: 08/97 SUBJECT: PULMONARY - SCOPE OF
SERVICES
REVISION DATE(S): 08/97, 01/00, 09/03, 08/06, 09/08,
09/09, 11/11, 02/17
Department Approval: 03/17
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: 08/17
Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval: 04/10,-05/12

A OVERVIEW OF THE DEPARTMENT:

1.

The department of pulmonary services provides diagnostic and therapeutic services to
inpatients, outpatients, and emergency department patients under the direction of a licensed
pulmonary physician. Services are provided to neonates, infants, adolescents, adult and
geriatric age groups. Service settings include all hospital areas. Pulmonary services proved
provide a 24-hour/7 day service designed to meet the needs of our patients.

B. DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES INCLUDE:

1.

PoohwN

;

Pulmonary function testing (outpatients scheduled 2 days-3-days/week: Tuesday-Wednesday—
Thursday and inpatients as ordered).

Non-invasive oxygen assessment (Pulse Oximetry).

Home oxygen assessment.

Blood gas sampling and analysis.

Sleep screening (limited sleep study-screen— inpatients only).

Bronchoscopy.

CPAP set up and education

C. THERAPEUTIC SERVICES INCLUDE:

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Patient pulmonary assessment.
Patient respiratory education.
Medical gas administration.
Aerosol therapy.

Hyperinflation therapy.
Pulmonary hygiene.

Airway maintenance and support.
Ventilatory support.

D. PROVIDERS OF SERVICE:

1.

All providers of respiratory therapy are appropriately oriented to the department and are
licensed as required by law. Respiratory Care Practitioners (RCPs) acquire additional training
and continuing education to ensure the proper care of patients. RCPs function under the
direction of a medical director who specializeds in pulmonary medicine. The medical director

143



| Respiratery-Care-MarualPulmonary Services

Pulmonary — Scope of Services

Page 2 of 3

4:5.

i6.

acts in that role for ene-two years as described in the medical center by-laws. RCPs also
function under the direction of an operations manager and director.

The pulmonary services department staff work in 12-hour shifts. The number of staff scheduled
each shift is based on the total workload calculated from the Resplratory Therapy
Workload Summary report. R a2 R

mfemat&emnanagement—syete;H\Aedi—Se;%
Qualified RCPs are available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week on site. RCRsredport-to-altead

Additional-Mmembers of the pulmonary management services team include the following:

a Pulmonary Manager

b. {CU-eoordinaterDayshift supervisor(s)
c Nightshift supervisor(s).

d Clinical Educator

& The department of pulmonary
services is composed of professmnal technlcal clencal and support staff in the following
categories:

a. Director

b. Ops-Operations /Clinical manager

c. Educator

d——GCoordinaterSupervisors

er—leads

f£d. Registered/Ceertified pulmonary function technologists

g-e. Registered respiratory therapists (RRTs)

hf.  Certified respiratory therapists (CRTs)

g. Cardiopulmonary assistants (equipment technicians)

Job descriptions are on file for each of the above job categories.

E. EQUIPMENT:

1.

The pulmonary services department provides services utilizing medical equipment that is
maintained in proper operational condition per preventative maintenance schedules and
manufacturer's recommendations. Equipment inventory includes disposable and non-disposable
equipment.

F. STANDARDS AND PRACTICE GUIDELINES:

1.

Effective and efficient patient care is provided based on current standards of respiratory care
and practice. TCMC pulmonary services adheres to federal and state regulatory imperatives
and standards including the Respiratory Care Practice Act, Title 22, and Title 17, Center for
Disease Control (CDC) and OSHA, and JCAHO. Patients can expect care that is delivered in a
manner consistent with the American Association of Respiratory Care (AARC) Guidelines for
Therapy whereby patients are assessed so that individual needs are met. The patient is
evaluated to ensure that therapy is appropriate, indicated, and objectives clearly defined.
Patients and patient families can expect to be treated with dignity and respect (per “Patients’
Rights”) by the RCPs who also provide education and explanation of services for their
customers.

In addition to the national guidelines, policies/procedures and protocols are based on expert
consensus, documentation team review and community standards. Policies and procedures are
reviewed every-year-and revised as needed to accommodate new evidence, standards, and/or
guidelines. Policies are discussed among the management team with input from RCPs then the
hospital documentation team before they are finalized. Final versions are communicated to the
staff through email, staff meetings, -retes-en-bulletin-boards—and-“lunchand-dinner:
meetingsand daily huddies on each shift.

144



| Respirater-Gare-MarualPulmonary Services
Pulmonary — Scope of Services
| Page3of3

34. All policies and procedures are posted online after submitting to house wide review and
board approval.

145



(c") Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

PULMONARY SERVICES

SUBJECT: Respiratory Medication Administration

ISSUE DATE: 05/09
REVISION DATE(S): 09/09, 01/12, 06/15

Department Approval: 08/09,-1/12,-7/1508/16
Medical Staff Pulmonary Division: 04/17
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: 07/17

| Medical Executive Committee Approval: 08/17

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval

] RCP= Respiratory_Care-Practit
| B-A. POLICY:
1. R Respiratory medication treatments will be rendered as close to the Resplratory medlcatlon

standard tlmes as possnble—

Patlent dlagnostlc testlng, meals trays, Codes, Rapld Response caIIs and urgent PRN (as
needed) calls may impact the times that therapy is being provided.

| 2. The Respiratory Care Practitioner (RCP) may stagger times to keep the intervals between
treatments appropriate.
3. The general expectation is that treatments will be given within one hour before or after the

targeted treatment scheduled time.

I G-B. PROCEDURE:
1. The RCP will stay with the patient during the treatment with the exception being the Emergency
| department and ICU where close monitoring is prowded-by—beth—RN—s—and—RGP—s—
2. Patients may be treated concurrently if they are in the same room with the RCP using proper
infection control technlques
4:3. The RCP must compare the Medication Admlnlstratlon Record (MAR) and the-medication-shewn
en—the—Ga;e—Meb#e—dewce—te—the physman ] med|cat|on order to ensure accuracy

Below is the table Ilstlng the Resplratory therapy Medlcatlon tlmes

:t.?’

146



Pulmonary
Respiratory Medication Administration

Page 2 of 2
0‘0
Rx Frequencies Times Given
RT Daily {(1/Day) 0900
RT QAM (1/Day) 0300
RT BID (2/Day) 03800-2100

RTTID (3/Day)

0800, 1500, 2100

RT QID (4/Day)

0800, 1200, 1600, 2000

RT Q4h (Every 4 hours)

0700, 1100, 1500, 1900, 2300, 0300

RT Q6h (Every b hours

0300, 1500, 2100, 0300

RT Q8h (Every 8 hours

0800, 1600, 2400

RT Q12h (Every 12 hours)

0300, 2100

W/A (While awake}

Rx will be given routinely during daylight hours
0700-2000. [f the patient requires therapy during
the night, it may be given.

PRN (As needed)

Patient request/RN or RCP judgment.

147



‘C‘) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

REHABILITATION SERVICES

SUBJECT: Emergency Care — 2124-El Camino-RealOutpatient Services
ISSUE DATE: 07/91

REVISION DATE(S): 02/94, 09/97, 10/00

Department Approval: 08/16

Department of Medicine Approval: n/a

Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a

Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:

Board of Directors Approval: 01/15

B-A.

G-B.

POLICY:

1.

All emergency medical, fire and law enforcement situations occurring at the Rehabilitation

Services Outpatient Department and the Wellness Center will be provided by city emergency

response systems-.-ef-the-City-of Oceanside-:

PROCEDURE:

1.

12,

2:3.

In case of any medical, fire or law enforcement emergency, staff members will initiate
appropriate interventions such as assessing vital signs, initiating CPR, RACE, etc., as indicated
per Departmental Policy, and dial 911 for assistance, specifying outpatient location.

4a. Notify main hospital for fire or other emergencies.

Appropriate documentation of each incident will be completed by Rehabilitation Staff members,
including notifying the patient’s physician when the incident involves a patient.

- ot < 3

Follow-up on patient status/outcome is documented in the medical record.

148



(c‘) Tri-City Medical Center

Oceanside, California

REHABILITATION SERVICES

Delete- no longer
needed

SUBJECT: Movies/Videos -- TR POLICY NUMBER: 902

ISSUE DATE: 09/91
REVISION DATE(S): 8/97, 4/12, 5/12

Department Approval: 08/15
Department of Medicine Approval: n/a
Pharmacy and Therapeutics Approval: n/a
Medical Executive Committee Approval: n/a

Professional Affairs Committee Approval:
Board of Directors Approval:

149



Rehabilitation Services
Movies/Videos - TR
Page 2 of 2

150



PROCEDURE:

DIAGNOSIS:
ALLERGIES:
STATUS: O INPATIENT O OUTPATIENT
CODE STATUS: 0 Full O No Resuscitation for hospital duration*
*Requires notation in Progress Notes.
MEDICATIONS:
Given by MD in CCL:
O Lidocaine 1% injectable for local anesthetic
O . . 2% ini .
O Heparin 1,000 units / mL,10 mL to scrub table
O Cefazolin (Ancef 1) gram in 250mL of normal saline for pocket irrigation to scrub table
O Nitroglycerin 100 mcg / mL to scrub table
O Nicardipine 100 mcg/ mL to scrub table
0O Other:
O Other:

Given by RN in CCL:

0O 0O OOOocooocooogoooag

Cefazolin (Ancef) 42 gram IVPB x-4-dese once

Clopidogrel (Plavix) 600 mg PO x-4-dese once

Prasugrel (Effient) 60 mg PO x4-dese-once

Ticagrelor (Brilinta) 180 mg PO x4-dese-once

Bivalirudin (Angiomax) bolus mg/kg and drip at mg/kg/hour

Eptifibatide (Integrilin) 180 mcg/kg bolus (max 22.6 mg) Q 10 minutes x2-doses times two doses
Eptifibatide (Integrilin) drip at 0 2 mcg/kg/min (max 15 mg/hr) OR O 1 mcg/kg/min (max 7.5 mg/hr)
Meperidine (Demerol) 12.5 mg — 100 mg IVP Q 5 minutes PRN Procedural Pain/Sedation as directed by MD
Fentanyl (Sublimaze) 25 mcg — 100 mcg IVP Q 5 minutes PRN Procedural Pain/Sedation as directed by MD
Morphine 2 — 10 mg IVP Q 5 minutes PRN Procedural Pain/Sedation as directed by MD

Midazolam (Versed) 0.5 mg — 5 mg IVP Q 5 minutes PRN Pain/sedation as directed by MD

Naloxone (Narcan) 0.4 mg IVP on call to reverse sedation post procedure if needed

Flumanzenil (Romazicon) 0.2 mg IVP on call to reverse sedation post procedure if needed

Other:

Other:

Other:

O Read Back all T.0./V.O.orders

Nurse’s — Signature Date Time Physician’s — Signature Date Time
(é‘?) Affix Patient Label

Tri-City Medical Center

4002 Vista Way » Oceanside o CA « 92056

87114010 CARDIAC CATH LAB
IR o e
Page 1 of 1
8711-4536 (Rev. PHYSICIAN'S ORDERS Board Approved 03/11

12/10) 151



O Tri-City Medical Center [J Carisbad Wellness Center
4002 Vista Way, Oceanside CA 92056 6250 El Camino Real, Carlsbad CA 92008
Phone: 760-940-3098, Fax 760-940-4056 Phone: 760-476-2905, Fax 760-931-3163

Patient Name: DOB:

Home Phone: Cell:

DIAGNOSIS: Date of Onset or Intervention:

Acute Myocardial Infarction STEMI (within 1 year of infarction)
Non-STEMI (within 1 year of infarction)

Coronary Artery Bypass Graft surgery

Stable Angina Pectoris

Heart Valve Repair or Replacement

CHF (EF documented < 35%)

Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty

PTCA with Coronary Artery Stenting

Heart Transplant

Phase IV Supervised Maintenance Program (Oceanside site only)

oO0ooooooooo

PROGRAM OPTIONS / TREATMENT PLAN:
[0 Phase Il Continuous Telemetry Monitored Cardiac Rehab, duration based on patient progress to a maximum of 36
sessions in 12-18 weeks:
o |nitial Evaluation Nursing Assessment
» Progressive exercise training 3 times per week, 30-60 minutes per session; utilizing treadmill, stationary bike,
hand weights, steps/recumbent stepper, elliptical, and other conditioning activities
» Education to promote an active healthy lifestyle and reduction of personal health risk factors

INTENSITY:

O Patient will be exercised to tolerance with the following restrictions:
O None O Heart Rate Range: -
O Based on Stress Test, completed on O Maximum Heart Rate:

Restrictions:

O My patient does not require a graded exercise test prior to starting the cardiac rehab program.

O My patient has had a graded exercise test and we will fax it to the Cardiac Wellness Program.

O My patient is able to participate in the cardiac rehabilitation MAINTENANCE program, where he/she will only be ECG
monitored for 3 visits. This option is self-pay, and no insurance authorization is necessary. All fees will be the
responsibility of the patient (Oceanside site only).

O Phase IV Cardiac Rehab Maintenance Program (Oceanside site only)

O Supervised exercise without Telemetry monitoring

3 Read Back all T.0./V.0.orders

Nurse’s — Signature Date Time Physician’s — Signature Date Time

@ Affix Patient Label
Tri-City Medical Center
4002 Vista Way e Oceanside » CA » 92056
CARDIAC REHABILITATION PHYSICIAN
REFERRAL ORDERS

Page 1 of 1
PHYSICIAN'S ORDERS

152



DIAGNOSIS:

PROCEDURE:

ALLERGIES:

ADMITTO: ™ Labor & Delivery

CODE STATUS: O Full O No Resuscitation for hospital duration*
*Requires notation in Progress Notes.
ASSESSMENT:
O Electronic Fetal Monitoring O Check FHT in OR prior to surgery, before abdominal skin prep

DIET:
O NPO after midnight

BH—RegularDiet

LAB/DIAGNOSTICS:

Comprehensive Metabolic Panel (C12)

CBC

Type and screen O Type and cross units
Capillary Blood Glucose upon admission for patients with Diabetes
Other:

oooooo

Other:

MEDICATIONS:
B Antibiot
O Cefazolin (Ancef) 2G IVPB to be given by anesthesiologist befere-sut prior to incision.
[l Cefazolin (Ancef) 3g IVPB for patients weighing greater than or equal to 120kg. To be given by
anesthesiologist prior to incision.
O Clindamycin (Cleocin) 900 mg IVPB to be given by anesthesiologist prior to incision.

&1 Start IV with 18 gauge catheter.
M Infuse Lactated Ringers at 500 mL per hour X 2 hours, then at 125 mL per hour.

CONSULT:
M Notify anesthesia of patient's admission.

TREATMENT:
O Abdominal Prep
O Insert #16 Foley catheter prior to surgery.

CONDITIONS:
O No additional DVT Prophylaxis required at this time O DVT Anticoagulation Prophylaxis contraindicated.
Explain:
NON-MEDICATION DVT PROPHYLAXIS:
O Sequential compression device knee high B =

CAUTION IF USING THIS PROTOCOL FOR PRESCRIBING HEPARIN OR ENOXAPARIN IF PLATELETS LESS
THAN 100,000/mcL.

MODERATE TO HIGH RISK

O Read Back all T.0./V.O.orders

Nurse’s — Signature Date Time Physician’s — Signature Date Time

‘@» L . Affix Patient Label
Tri-City Medical Center

4002 Vista Way e Oceanside o CA ¢ 92056

8711-4010 OB SCHEDULED C-
I coine?
POWNTIME-ORDERS
SHEETS
Page 24-of 214

8711-1118 Revised (06/13) PHYSICIAN'S ORDERS Board Approval 06/13

153



| replacement):
O Enoxaparin (Lovenox) 30 mg subcutaneous upon admission.
O Enoxaparin (Lovenox) 40 mg subcutaneous upon admission

0O Heparin 5,000 units subcutaneous upon admission

0O Read Back all T.0./V.Q.orders
Nurse’s — Signature Date Time Physician’s - Signature Date Time
‘@) . . . Affix Patient Label
Tri-City Medical Center
4002 Vista Way ¢ Oceanside o CA ¢ 92056
8711-4010 OB SCHEDULED C-
(] T
POWNTIME-ORDERS
SHEETS
Page 21-of 24
PHYSICIAN'S ORDERS Board Approval 06/13 154

8711-1118 Revised (06/13)



